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November 2, 2021

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord. New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health,
to enter into a Sole Source contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC#177160),
Lebanon, NH in the amount of $455,688 for the evaluation of integrated primary care, community
behavioral health care and wellness services for young people with serious emotional disturbance
(SED), severe mental illness (SMI), severe and persistent mental illness (SPMI), with the option
to renew for up to one (1) additional year effective July 1, 2021 or upon Govemor and Council
approval, whichever is later, through December 31, 2023.100% Federal Funds.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023, and
are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Year 2024, upon the availability and continued
appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget line items
within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the Budget
Office, If needed and justified.

05-95-092-922010-23400000- HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVCS, HHS: BEHAVIORAL" HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF MENTAL HEALTH
SERVICES. PROHEALTH NH GRANT

State

Fiscal Year

Class /

Account
Class Title Job Number Total Amount

2022 074-500585 Contracts for Prog Svc 92202340 $209,938

2023 074-500585 Contracts for Prog Svc 92202340 $197,000

2024 074-500585 Contracts for Prog Svc 92202340 $48,750

Total $455,688

EXPLANATION

This request is Sole Source because the Contractor was identified in the original federal
ProHealth NH grant application submitted to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
Administration (SAMHSA). Consequently, the availability of federal funding is contingent upon
the Department continuing to contract with the current Contractor. Additionally, the existing

The Deparimenl of Health ond^Hunxan Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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ProHealth contracts with the Community Mental Health Centers who sulxiontracted with the
Contractor expired June 30, 2021. The ProHealth scope of services is incorporated into
amendments with the Community Mental Health Centers for the remaining months of the grant.
The Contractor will continue to conduct the evaluation and reporting of outcomes consistent with
federal project requirements.

The purpose of this request is to provide evaluation, training, and consultation on
community-based treatment and recovery options that promote recovery from mental illness and
wellness interventions through continued implementation of the ProHealth NH Partnership Grant.
The Contractor will provide training and consultation on evaluation and evidence-based wellness
interventions to the Community Mental Health Centers and federally qualified health center
partnerships. The Contractor will provide evaluation services in accordance with SAMHSA
guidance. Evaluations will measure effectiveness in identifying and addressing serious emotional
disturbance, severe mental illness, severe and persistent mental illness, and physical health
indicators earlier and improving health outcomes for youth and young adults with mental illness.

The Department will monitor contracted services by reviewing;

•  Reports on the proportion of individuals enrolled in ProHealth NH who received evidence-
based mental health treatment and health education for weight management and tobacco
use.

•  Reports on the proportion of individuals enrolled in ProHealth NH who received Breath Well,
Live Well Tobacco Program and Healthy Choices Healthy Changes Weight program.

•  Two annual presentations, and an annual report detailing outcomes demonstrating the value
in documentation of primary care, coordinated and collat>orative care, health homes, and
wellness interventions.

As referenced in Exhibit A of the attached contract, the parties have the option to extend
the agreement for up one (1) additional year, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services,
available funding, agreement of the parties and Governor and Council approval.

Should the Govemor and Council not authorize this request, the evaluation, training, and
consultation will cease and the SAMHSA will discontinue the grant award because requirements
would not be met. The services provided by the Contractor would not aid the Community Mental
Health Centers providing ProHealth services to individuals with serious emotional disturbance,
severe mental illness and severe and persistent mental illness.

Area served; Greater Manchester, Greater Nashua, and Strafford County.

Source of Funds: CFDA #93.243, FAIN #H79SM080245

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Shibinette

Commissioner
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Subject:_Evaluation of ProHealthNew Hampshire (SS-2022-DBH-0I-EVALU-0I)

be dearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.
agreement

The State ofNew Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows.
GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. identification. 1
l.l State Agency Name

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

1.3 Contractor Name

Mai7 Hitchcock'Memorial Hospital

1.5 Contractor Phone
Number

(603)650-5000

1.6 Account Number

05-95-092-922010-

23400000

.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency

Nathan D. White, Director

1.11 Contractor Signature

1.13 State Agency Signature
OoeuSJomd Ijy:

I  S'
—\_ED0006e04C63442,.. De

Date:10/21/2021

10/26/2021

Date:

.2 State Agency Address

129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.4 Contractor Address

1 Medical Center Drive
Lebanon, NH 03765

1.7 Completion Date

December 31, 2023

1.8 Price Limitation

$455,688

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number

(603)271-9631

1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory
Barbara A. Vance

Vice President of Research Operations

1.14 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory
Katja S. FOX

Di rector

partment of Administration. Division of Personnel (ifapplicable)
Director, On:

By:

1.16 Approval by the Anomey General (Form. Substance and Exeeution) (ifapplicable)C-Do«u81gn«<lby: , 10/26/2021
J, /kAKsLAlL ■ ^

TtT Appr^mo" m^o"vernor and.bxecutive Council (ifapplicable)
G«fcC Meeting Date:

G&C Item number:
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The Stale of New

Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in block 1.1
("State"), engages contractor identified in block 1.3
("Contractor") to perform, and the Contractor shall perform, the
work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described in the attached EXHIBIT B which is incorporated
herein by reference ("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if applicable,
this Agreement, and all obligations ofjhe parties hereunder, shall
become effective on .the date the Governor and Executive

Council approve this Agreement as indicated in block 1.17,
unless no such approval is required, in which case the Agreement
shall become effective on the date the Agreement is signed by
the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior to
the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not become
effective, the State shall have no liability to the Contractor,
including without limitation, any obligation to pay the
Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block i .7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of
funds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive
action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise modifies the
appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement and
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, in whole or in
part. In no event shall the State be liable for any payments
hereunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the
event of a reduction or termination of appropriated funds, the
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds
become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination.
The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other
account or source to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the

event funds in that Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method ofpayment, and terms of payment
are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C
which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete

compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State shall
have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract price.
5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those
liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7
through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no
event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made
hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block 1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws,

regulations, and orders of federal, state, county or municipal
authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the
Contractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agreement is
funded in any part by monies of the United States, the Contractor
shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations
and statutes, and with any rules, regulations and guidelines as the
State or the United States issue to implement these regulations.
The Contractor shall also comply with all applicable intellectual
property laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, handicap, sexual
orientation, or national origin and will take affirmative action to
prevent such discrimination.
6.3. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United States
access to any of the Contractor's books, records and accounts for
the purpose of ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations
and orders, and the covenants, terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor warrants that
all personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to
perform the Services, and shall be properly licensed and
otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable laws.
7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire, and
shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employee
or official, who is materially involved in the procurement,
administration or performance of this Agreement. This
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement.
7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or her
successor, shall be the State's representative. In the event of any
dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement, the
Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

Page 2 of 4
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8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of Ihe following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder ("Event
ofDefault"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of
a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30) days from the
date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is not timely cured,
terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the
Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and* ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and set off against any other obligations the State may
owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of
any Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the
Agreement and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity, or
both.

8.3. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions hereof affer
any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event of Default, or any subsequent Event of
Default. No express failure to enforce any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and
all of the provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of
Default on the part of the Contractor.

9. TERMINATION.

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole
discretion, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or
in part, by thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor that
the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement.
9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for
any reason other than the completion of the Services, the
Contractor shall, at the State's discretion, deliver to the
Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date
of termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject matter,
content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXHIBIT B. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Contractor

shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop and

Page 3

submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the

Agreement.

10. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/

preservation.

10.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic
representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes,
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether
finished or unfinished.

10.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination
of this Agreement for any reason.
10.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91 -A or other existing law. Disclosure of data requires
prior written approval of the State.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the

performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects
an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor an
employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the Slate or receive any benefits, workers' compensation or
other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.

12.1 The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice, which
shall be provided to the State at least fifteen (15) days prior to
the assignment, and a written consent of the State. For purposes
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute
assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) merger,
consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in
which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the
direct or indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting
power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Contractor.

12.2 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the
Contractor without prior written notice and consent of the State.
The Slate is entitled to copies of all subcontracts and assignment
agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions contained
in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not a
party.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Unless otherwise exempted by law,
the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State, its
officers and employees, from and against any and all claims,
liabilities and costs for any personal injury or property damages,
patent or copyright infringement, or other claims asserted against
the State, its officers or employees, which arise out of (or which
may be claimed to arise out oQ the acts or omission of the
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Contractor, or subcontractors, including but not limited to the
negligence, reckless or intentional conduct. The State shall not
be liable for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising under
this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the sovereign
immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the
State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
continuously maintain in force, and shall require any
subcontractor or assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the
following insurance:
14.1.1 commercial general liability insurance against all claims
of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts of not
less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate
or excess; and
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all property
subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein, in an amount not less than
80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be
on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State
of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and
issued by insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire.
14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s) of
insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer identified
in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificate(s) of insurance
for all renewal{s) of insurance required under this Agreement no
later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration date of each
insurance policy. The certificate(s) of insurance arid any
renewals thereof shall be attached and are incorporated herein by
reference.

15. WORKERS'COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies
and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with or exempt
from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A ("Workers'
Compensalion").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements
of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall maintain, and
require any subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain,
payment of Workers' Compensation in connection with
activities which the person proposes to undertake pursuant to this
Agreement. The Contractor shall furnish the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, proof of Workers'
Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter
281-A and any applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be
attached and are incorporated herein by reference. The State
shall not be responsible for payment of any Workers'
Compensalion premiums or for any other claim or benefit for
Contractor, or any subcontractor or employee of Contractor,
which might arise under applicable State of New Hampshire
Workers' Compensation laws in connection with the
performance of the Services under this Agreement.

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States
Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses given in
blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement maybe amended, waived
or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed by the
parties hereto and only after approval of such amendment,
waiver or discharge by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire unless no such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy.

18. CHOICE OF LAW AND FORUM. This Agreement shall
be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule
of construction shall be applied against or in favor of any party.
Any actions arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall have
exclusive jurisdiction thereof.

19. CONFLICTING TERMS. In the event of a conflict
between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT
A) and/or attachments and amendment thereof, the terms of the
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall control.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement are
for reference purposes only, and the words contained therein
shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the
interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this
Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
herein by reference.

23. SEVERABILITV. In the event any ofthe provisions of this
Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter
hereof.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Evaluation of ProHealth New Hampshire

EXHIBIT A

Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is amended by adding
subparagraph 3.3 as follows:

3.3. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to one (1) additional year
from the Completion Date, contingent upon satisfactory delivery-of
services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and approval of the
Governor and Executive Council.

1.2. Paragraph 7, Personnel, is amended by modifying subparagraph 7.1 to read:

7.1. The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor certifies that all
personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to perform the
Services, and shall be properly licensed and otherwise authorized to
do so under all applicable laws.

1.3. Paragraph 7, Personnel, is amended by modifying subparagraph 7.2 to read:

7.2. Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of this
Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the Completion
Date in block 1.7, the Contractor's employees involved in this project,
shall not hire, andshall not permit any subcontractor or other person,
firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employeeor
official, who is materially involved in the procurement, administration
or performance of this Agreement. This provision shall survive
termination of this Agreement.

1.4. Paragraph 9, Termination, is amended by modifying subparagraph 9.2 to read:

9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the
State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than thirty
(30) days after the dateof termination, a report ("Termination Report")
describing in detail all Services performed, and the contract price
earned, to and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXHIBIT B. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Contractorshall,
within thirty (30) days of notice of early termination, develop and
submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the

Agreement.

WV
SS-2022-DBH-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

10/21/2021
A-1.0 Page 1 of 3 Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Evaluation of ProHealth New Hampshire

EXHIBIT A

1.5. Paragraph 10, Data/Access/Confidentiality/Preservalion, is amended by
modifying subparagraph 10.3 to read:

10.3 Confidentiality of data shall, to the extent applicable, be governed
by N.H. RSA chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
provided by the State requires prior written approval of the State.

1.6. Paragraph 12, Assignment/Delegalion/Subcontracts, is amended by adding
subparagraph 12.3 as follows:

12.3. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual conditions as the
Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor
compliance with those conditions. The Contractor shall have written
agreements with all subcontractors, specifying the work to be performed
and how corrective action shall be managed if the subcontractor's
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the
subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis and take corrective
action as necessary. The Contractor shall annually provide the State with
a list of all subcontractors provided for under this Agreement and notify
the State of any inadequate subcontractor performance.

12.4. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subparagraph 14.1.2 to
read:

14.1.2. The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall beon policy
forms and endorsements approved for use in the State of New
Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by
insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in the State of New Hampshire.

12.5. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subparagraph 14.3 to read:

14.3. The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer identified in
block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s) ofinsurance for all
insurance required under this Agreement. Contractor shall also furnish
to the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor,
certificate(s) of insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required
under this Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior to the
expiration date of each insurance policy. The certificate(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein byreference.

2. Revisions to Exhibit I, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Business
Association Agreement

2.1. Section 3, Obligations and Activities of Business Associate, Subsection b. is
amended as follows:

SS-2022-DBH-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hilchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials,
10/21/2021

A-1.0 Page 2 of 3 Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Evaluation of ProHealth New Hampshire

EXHIBIT A

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it
becomes aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall
include, but not be limited to:

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including
the types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

o The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom
the disclosure was made;

o Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed;
and

o The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has been
mitigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment report as soon as the
investigation is completed and report the findings of the risk assessment report in
writing to the Covered Entity as soon as possible thereafter.

SS-2022-D8H-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
10/21/2021

A-1,0 Page 3 of 3 Date



DocuSign Envelope ID; 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAF0B

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Evaluation of ProHealth New Hamphlre

EXHIBIT B

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1. The Contractor shall provide evaluation services for the ProHealth New
Hampshire (NH) program in accordance with the Substance Abuse and Mental
Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) guidance and applicable federal
and state law, including administrative rules and regulations.

1.2. The Contractor shall provide training and consultation on the latest community-
based treatment and recovery options that are intended to promote health
wellness and recovery from mental illness and are based on scientific research
and the best evidence-based practices.

2. Evaluation Services

2.1. The Contractor shall maintain required regulatory oversight of the evaluation
pertaining to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) and Protection of Human
Subjects in Clinical Trials.

2.2. The Contractor shall provide training and consultation to the Community Mental
Health Centers (CMHCs) that includes, but is not limited to:

2.2.1. Obtaining consent from individuals participating in ProHealth NH
evaluation and wellness services.

2.2.2. Ensuring client data includes an identification number (ID) for all enrolled
individuals.

2.2.3. Collecting and reporting information that includes, but is not limited to:

2.2.3.1. Individual demographic and encounter data.

2.2.3.2. Medical history and primary care provider information.

2.2.3.3. Documentation related to all contact with a primary care provider.

2.2.3.4. Most recent physical exam and wellness visit.

2.2.3.5. De-identified information that includes height, weight, body mass
index (BMI), waist circumference, blood pressure, tobacco use
and/or breath carbon monoxide, and plasma glucose and lipids.

2.2.4. Screening and reporting of the following:

2.2.4.1. Trauma:

2.2.4.2. Depression;

2.2.4.3. Substance use;

2.2.4.4. Medication misuse;

2.2.4.5. Interest or Involvement in employment and education activities;

2.2.4.6. Assertive Community Treatment services; and

SS-2022-DBH-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor initials
10/21/2021

B-1.0 Page 1 of 10 Date



DocuSign Envelope ID: 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAF0B

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Evaluation of ProHealth New Hamphire

EXHIBIT B

2.2.4.7. Symptom management.

2.2.5. Entering demographic and encounter data into the SAMHSA Performance
Accountability and Review System (SPARS) system and RedCap.

2.2.6. Providing individual demographic and encounter data to the Department
to include content in the format, frequency, method and timeliness as
specified by the Department.

2.2.7. Conducting quality review on quarterly aggregate data Identified in
Subsections 10.5 and 10.6, SPARS, and RedCap.

2.3. The Contractor shall conduct qualitative assessments of ProHealth NH for
routine quality improvement that must include input from individuals,
caregivers, youth, peers, providers, and other stakeholders.

3. Coordinated and Collaborative Care

3.1. The Contractor shall provide training to support referrals to evidence-based
practice (EBPs) for individuals with SMI, SPMI, and SED based on need

3.2. The Contractor shall provide quarterly consultation on effective methodology to
engage individuals with Serious Mental Illness (SMI), Serious and Persistent
Mental Illness (SPMI), and Serious Emotional Disturbance (SED) in evaluation
and services to meet the needs of individuals, including motivational
enhancement and referrals for case management, integrated services, and
EBP integrated treatment.

4. Integrated Health Home

4.1. The Contractor shall provide monthly consultation on integrated health
interventions in 3.2 for individuals' with SMI, SPMI, and SED behavioral health
care EBP assessment and treatment.

4.2. The Contractor shall provide training and consultation on person centered-
shared decision making and decisions aids that support youth decision making
and informed consent with treatment providers about treatment options,
including pharmacotherapy.

5. Health Counseling and Wellness Interventions

5.1. The Contractor shall provide training and consultation on wellness programs
for health coaches assisting individuals with selecting options that best match
individual needs and interests. The Contractor shall ensure options include, but
are not limited to:

5.1.1. One-time brief Motivational Enhancement interventions that include:

5.1.1.1. Let's Talk About Smoking (LTAS);

5.1.1.2. Vaping Education;

5.1.1.3. Let's Talk About Feeling Good; and

SS-2022-DBH-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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5.1.1.4. Health Education.

5.1.2. Breathe Well Live Well (BWLW) program. The Contractor shall ensure
the program includes:

5.1.2.1. Health coaching with components of motivational interviewing,
cognitive behavioral therapy, and stages of change-based
interventions to motivate risk reduction and quit attempts.

5.1.2.2. Manualized BWLW cessation counseling for the participant as well
as Care2Quit counseling for of a person in the individuals support
system to support quit attempts;

5.1.2.3. Provision of nicotine replacement therapy and referrals for
cessation pharmacotherapy; and

5.1.2.4. Structured incentivizes program for participation and quit
attempts.

5.1.3. Health Coaches for Hypertension Control program for individuals who are
overweight or obese. The Contractor shall ensure the program includes:

5.1.3.1. Health coaching with components of Motivational interviewing,

Cognitive behavioral therapy, and Stages of change-based
interventions;

5.1.3.2. A local gym membership for twelve (12) months;

5.1.3.3. A wellness specialist and an InSHAPE health mentor;

5.1.3.4. A Weight Watchers membership for one (1) year to include:

5.1.3.4.1. The Weight Watchers application for individuals above
the age 18 years;

5.1.3.4.2. MyFitnessPal application for youth under age 18 years;
and

5.1.3.4.3. Structured incentives program for participation and.
initiating behavior change.

5.2. The Contractor shall provide intervention manuals for the interventions outlined
in 5.1 that include alternative treatment options and referrals to wellness
treatment services. The Contractor shall ensure wellness treatment services
and referrals based on the outcomes of health screening and treatment
planning goals include;

5.2.1. Web-based application and text subscriptions, Quitline NH telephonic
counseling, MyLifeMyQuit, tobacco and obesity education, diabetes
education programs, and other related programs.

5.2.2. Access to medications associated with wellness interventions, such as
nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), nicotine replacement (NRT) starter

SS-2022-DBH-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials (^\J

B-io Page 3 of 10 Date 10/21/2021



DocuSign Envelope ID: 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAFOB

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Evaluation of ProHealth New Hamphire

EXHIBIT B

packs, and onsite prescribing and pharmacy to maintain NRT supply or
to access other smoking cessation medication (varenicline, bupropion).

6. Quality Improvement

6.1. The Contractor shall perform, or cooperate with the performance of, quality
improvement and/or utilization review activities as determined and requested
by the Department.

6.2. The Contractor shall conduct surveys and biannual forums, as requested by
the Department, to obtain feedback and input from individuals, peers, and
community health workers.

6.3. The Contractor shall provide a report, in the format and frequency requested
by the Department, that summarizes activities that includes, but is not limited
to:

6.3.1. Quality Improvement activities;

6.3.2. Utilization review activities;

6.3.3. Surveys and biannual forums; and

6.3.4. Implementation of the activities identified above.

6.4. The Contractor shall develop management and self-review tools for wellness
interventions identified in Section 5, as approved by the Department.

7. Staffing

7.1. The Contractor shall maintain staff or subcontractors that include, but are not

limited to:

7.1.1. 0.3 FTE director with an advanced degree in psychology or related field
who provides oversight of and training for the ProHealth MM program.

7.1.2. 0.1 FTE data analyst who performs the following activities:

7.1.2.1. Data quality review;

7.1.2.2. Data analysis;

7.1.2.3. Training and support for data entry into the RedCap and federal
SPARS data repositories;

7.1.3. Two (2) program managers, who possess master's degrees in a
psychology related field or equivalent and are licensed to practice in New
Hampshire as required by applicable state and federal laws to provide
training and consultation on :

7.1.3.1. Wellness interventions;

7.1.3.2. Recruitment and retention; and

7.1.3.3. Interview and data collection techniques.

t?6\J
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8. Deliverables

8.1. The Contractor shall submit enrollment, service use and outcomes reports to
the Department, by the twentieth (20'^) day after the end of each quarter.
Reports shall contain de-identified and aggregate data that pertains to:

8.1.1. Integrated mental health and primary care health homes.

8.1.2. Wellness interventions delivered within the integrated health home
program.

8.2. The Contractor shall submit an annual report, by the tenth (10'^) day of August,
to the Department that identifies evaluation and health outcomes required by
SAMHSA.

8.3. The Contractor shall provide two (2) annual presentations on the aggregate
data and outcomes in EBP's by the tenth (10'^) day of August and six (6)
months later, or as requested by the Department.

9. Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity

9.1. The Contractor shall submit a summary within thirty five (35) calendar days to
the Department that includes:

9.1.1. The number of interventions completed by individuals at each CMHC;

9.1.2. The number of hours of training and consultation, including the hours for
preparation; and

9.1.3. Additional information as requested by the Department.

10. Data Management

10.1. The Contractor shall conduct human subjects data collection, management and
reporting according to procedures approved and monitored by an Institutional
Review Board.

10.2. The Contractor shall ensure all releases of confidentiality and prohibitions on
disclosure of information are in compliance with all state and federal laws,
including administrative rules, including the prohibition for re-disclosure of 42
CFR Part 2 information.

10.3. The Contractor shall collaborate with the Department to streamline, automate
and align reporting with existing reports where possible.

10.4. The Contractor shall provide training and quality assurance of real-time
National Outcome Measures (NOMs) data with the ProHealth NH Partnerships
through a Department approved secure portal.

10.5. The Contractor shall collaborate with ProHealth NH Partnerships to provide
quarterly reports to the Department that include National Outcome Measure
(NOMs) and New Hampshire specific CMHC data points including, but not
limited to:
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10.5.1. Number of participants screened for ProHealth NH;

10.5.2. Number of participants newly enrolled in ProHealth NH;

10.5.3. Number of participants who received ProHealth NH health and behavioral
screening and assessments;

10.5.4. Number of participants screened for trauma; depression; substance use
disorders; medication use; involvement or interest in employment or
education; need for assertive community treatment; and desire for
symptom management;

10.5.5. Number of participants referred to each treatment based on needs
identified in screenings;

10.5.6. Total number of participants who received each of the screenings and
assessments in Section 2;

10.5.7. Total number of individuals of age group served by ProHealth NH in care
at the CMHC; and

10.5.8. National Outcome Measures (NOMs) obtained.

10.6. The Contractor shall report quarterly aggregate summaries of the following
items from CMHC and Federally Qualified Health Center electronic medical
records:

10.6.1. Number of participants in supportive housing or independent living
programs;

10.6.2. Number of participants who attended social and rehabilitative programs;

10.6.3. Number of participants who participated in each of the EBP services listed
in Section 2;

10.6.4. Number of participants who attended a scheduled medical appointment;

10.6.5. Number of participants who attended a scheduled mental health
appointment;

10.6.6. Number of participants who completed tobacco education;

10.6.7. Number of participants who completed obesity education;

10.6.8. Number of participants who attended Breathe Well Live Well;

10.6.9. Number of participants who attended Health Choices Healthy Changes;
and

10.6.10. Cumulative totals of participants engaged in each of the EBP activities
and Health Counseling and Wellness Interventions.

10.7. The Contractor shall establish follow-up rates in quarterly intervals for reporting
on the proportion of individuals enrolled in ProHealth NH who received the
following services:

W
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10.7.1. Evidence-based mental health treatment for those whose mental health

screening indicates a need;

10.7.2. Healthy lifestyle education following health screening;

10.7.3. Health education for tobacco among those who use tobacco as indicated
in health screening;

10.8. The Contractor shall establish baseline rates for the following performance
measures, reporting on the proportion of individuals enrolled in ProHealth NH
who received the following health behavior change services:

10.8.1. Breathe Well Live Well Tobacco Program for those who use tobacco;
and

10.8.2. Healthy Choices Healthy Changes Weight, nutrition and fitness program
for those with obesity.

10.9. The Contractor shall report additional data as requested by the Department,
which includes, but is not limited to:

10.9.1. Focus groups and qualitative interviews;

10.9.2. Participants' satisfactory performance in work and school settings;

10.9.3. The level of compliance with prescribed medication regimes;

10.9.4. The attendance at scheduled medical and behavioral health

appointments; and

10.9.5. Any additional ProHealth NH data specified by SAMHSA.

10.10. The Contractor shall provide quarterly reports on financial incentives distributed
from advanced payments for incentives to the Department by the fifteenth (15)
day of the following month.

10.11. The Contractor shall provide evaluation, training, and consultation for
ProHealth NH consistent with the data collections and infrastructure efforts of

the Department.

11. Exhibits Incorporated

11.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in

compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and as applicable
42 CFR Part 2 for the protection of substance use disorder records, and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

11.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

U\J
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11.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

12. Additional Terms

12.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

12.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal legislation
or court orders may have an impact on the Services described herein, the
State has the right to modify Service priorities and expenditure
requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve compliance
therewith.

12.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

12.2.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials prepared during or resulting from the performance of the
services of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New
Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human
Services."

12.2.2. All materials produced under the Agreement shall be done in
collaboration with the Department and must be approved before printing,
production, distribution or use except for use of "Let's Talk About Feeling
Good" and any academic publications.

12.2.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all original
materials produced, including, but not limited to;

12.2.3.1. Brochures.

12.2.3.2. Resource directories.

12.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.

12.2.3.4. Posters.

12.2.3.5. Reports.

12.2.4. Prior to any publication of the materials produced hereunder, Contractor
shall forward to Department a copy of the disclosure for review and
comment at least thirty (30) days prior to submission for publication.
Contractor shall consider all comment from the Department in good faith
and remove any confidential information the Department identified during
such review. Contractor shall acknowledge the Department's
contributions in all such publications.

12.3. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations

SS-2022-DBH-01-EVALU-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor HJ/21/2U21
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12.3.1. In the operation of any facilities for providing services, the Contractor
shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal, state,
county and municipal authorities and with any direction of any Public
Officer or officers pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or duty
upon the contractor with respect to the operation of the facility or the
provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the
performance of the said services, the Contractor will procure said license
or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and conditions of
each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing
requirements, the Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that, during
the term of this Agreement the facilities shall comply with all rules,
orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire
Marshal and the local fire protection agency, and shall be in
conformance with local building and zoning codes, by-laws and
regulations.

13. Records

13.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

13.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing and reflecting all income received or collected by the
Contractor and all costs and other expenses incurred by the Contractor
in the performance of the Contract.

13.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such
costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original
evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind contributions,
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by
the Department.

13.1.3.

13.2. During the term of this Agreement and the period for retention hereunder, the
Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and
any of their designated representatives shall have access to all reports and
records maintained pursuant to the Agreement for purposes of audit,
examination, excerpts and transcripts. Upon the purchase by the Department
of the maximum number of units provided for in the Agreement and upon
payment of the price limitation hereunder, the Agreement and all the obligations
of the parties hereunder (except such obligations as, by the terms of the
Agreement are to be performed after the end of the term of this Agreement
and/or survive the termination of the Agreement) shall terminate, provided
however, that if, upon review of the Final Expenditure Report the Department
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shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as costs hereunder the
Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.
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Payment Terms

1. This Agreement is funded by:

1.1. 100%, Prohealth NH Grant, awarded by the Substance Abuse Mental
Health Services Administration, CFDA 93.243, FAIN H79SM080245.

2. For the purposes of this Agreement:

2.1. The Department has identified the Contractor as a Contractor, in
■  accordance with 2 CFR 200.331.

3." Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures
incurred in the fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with
the approved line item, as specified in Exhibits C-1, Budget through Exhibit C-
3, Budget.

4. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the Department
by the twenty fifth (25th) working day of the following month, which identifies
and requests reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior
month. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, dated and
returned to the Department in order to initiate payment.

5. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and
emailed to dhhs.dbhinvoicesmhs@dhhs.nh.qov. or invoices may be mailed to:

Financial Manager
Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

6. The Department shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days
of receipt of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and
if sufficient funds are available, subject to Paragraph 4 of the General
Provisions Form Number P-37 of this Agreement.

7. The final invoice shall be due to the Department no later than, sixty (60) days
after the contract completion date specified in Form P-37, General Provisions
Block 1.7 Completion Date.

8. The Contractor must provide the services in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, in
compliance with funding requirements.

9. The Contractor agrees that funding under this Agreement may be withheld, in
whole or in part in the event of non-compliance with the terms and conditions
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

10. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that
funding under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event
of non-compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit C Contractor initials
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to the services provided, or if the said services or products have not been
satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
agreement.

11. Notwithstanding Paragraph 17 of the General Provisions Form P-37, changes
limited to adjusting amounts within the price limitation and adjusting
encumbrances between State Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the"
Budget Office may be made by written agreement of both parties, without
obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council, if needed and
justified.

12. Audits

12.1. The Contractor is required to submit an annual audit to the Department
if any of the following conditions exist:

12.1.1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in
federal funds received as a subrecipient pursuant to 2 CFR Part
200, during the most recently completed fiscal year.

12.1.2. Condition B - The Contractor is subject to audit pursuant to the
requirements of NH RSA 7:28, lll-b, pertaining to charitable
organizations receiving support of $1,000,000 or more.

12.1.3. Condition C - The Contractor is a public company and required
by Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations to
submit an annual financial audit.

12.2. If Condition A exists, the Contractor shall submit an annual single audit
performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) to the
Department within 120 days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal
year, conducted in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part
200, Subpart F of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal awards.

12.3. If Condition B or Condition C exists, the Contractor shall submit an
annual financial audit performed by an independent CPA within 120
days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal year.

12.4. Any Contractor that receives an amount equal to or greater than
$250,000 from the Department during a single fiscal year, regardless
of the funding source, may be required, at a minimum, to submit annual
financial audits performed by an independent CPA if the Department's
risk assessment determination indicates the Contractor is high-risk.

12.5. In addition to, and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the
Contract, it is understood and agreed by the Contractor that the
Contractor shall be held liable for any state or federal audit exceptions
and shall return to the Department all payments made under the

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Exhibit C Contractor Initials
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Contract to which exception has been taken, or which have been
disallowed because of such an exception.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Hitman Services

BiddarfProgram Name; Hary HItcheeek Hemeriai Hospital

Budget Raqueai tor Evaluation of ProHealth New Hampshirs

Budget Period: July t. 202}-June 30. 20Z3

total Program Coat Contractor Sliare f Match fuiMed by DHH3 contract share

Direct Indirect Total Direct htdbcct Total Direct todlrect Total

S  2«.71»(I0 t  2.072.00 S  32.001.00 3 3  29.71900 3  2.072.00 3  32.001.00

S  9.3M.00 S  000.00 3  lO.SSO.OO 3 3  o.soeoo 3  00000 3  10.330.00

3

3 3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3 3

3 3

$ 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

AwM and Leoai 3 3 3

tnauranee 3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3

3 3 3

S  S.OOOOO t  soooo 3  S.300.00 3 3 3  S.OOOCO 3  300.00

3 3

Web Based tntetvenUgns 3 3 3

3 3

i i 3 3 3

TOTAL %  44.31SJM %  4.43X00 3  4a.7S0JW 3 i i 3  44JtSOO 3  4,432.00 i
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the foiiowing Certification:

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION ■ CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31,
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part II of the May 25, 1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certification by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord, NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring in the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by subparagaph 1.1.
1.4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by subparagraph 1.1 that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted empioyee was working, unless the Federal agency

Exhibit D-Certification regarding Drug Free Contractor Initials
Workplace Requirements
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the
identification number(s) of each affected grant;

1.6, Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance {street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756

Check □ if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

Contractor Name: "^^^y Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

10/21/2021 L UuUt

Date Name: Barbara A. Vance
Title- Vice President of Research Operations

Exhibil D - Certification regarding Drug Free Contractor Initials
Workplace Requirements 10/21/2021
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification;

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
•Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A
•Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicaid Program under Title XIX
•Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
•Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Vendor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

10/21/2021 l!?ayi^ar(i L

Date Name: Barbara A. Vance
Title: Vice President of Research Operations

IWV
Exhibit E - Certification Regarding Lobbying Vendor Initials,
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS
.(

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following
Certification:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the
certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government. DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and
"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See httpsY/
www.govinfo.gov/app/details/CFR-2004-title45-vol1/CFR-2004-title45-vol1-part76/context.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that It is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or Involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and

Exhibit F - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension Contractor Initials.
And Other Responsibility Matters 10/21/2021
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that It and its
principals;
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

10/21/2021 L

Date Name: Barbara A. Vance
Title: Vice President of Research Operations

Exhibit F - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension Contractor Initials,
And Other Responsibility Matters 10/21/2021
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND
WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, in any program or activity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment. State and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

- the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683, 1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whistleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2, 2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.

Exhibit G

Contractor initials
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Contractor Identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified ih Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

10/21/2021 L Uuut.

Date Name: Barbara A. Vance
Title: Vice President of Research Operations

Exhibit G

Contractor Initials

CertiTicalioo o( Compliance with fe<tulfement5 ponainlno to Fe<Jeral Nondiscrimlnatloo, Equal Treatment of Faith-eased Organizatioos
and Whisiteblowar protections 10/21/2021

Rev. 10/21/14 Page 2 of 2 Date,



DocuSign Envelope ID: 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAF0B

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit H

CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part 0 - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

10/21/2021 L

Date Name: Barbara A. Vance
Title: Vice President of Research Operations

Exhibit H - Certification Regarding Contractor Initials,
Environmental Tobacco Smoke 10/21/2021
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HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate" shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health information under this Agreement and "Covered
Entity" shall mean the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services.

(1) Definitions.

a. "Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

b. "Business Associate" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, Code
of Federal Regulations.

c. "Covered Entity" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. "Desionated Record Set"shall have the same meaning as the term "designated recordset"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. "Data Aaoreoation" shall have the same meaning as the term "data aggregation" in 45CFR
Section 164.501.

f. "Health Care Operations" shall have the same meaning as the term "health careoperations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

g. "HITECH Act" means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act, TitleXIII, Subtitle D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.

h. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of1996, Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health
Information, 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164 and amendments thereto.

i. "Individual" shall have the same meaning as the term "individual" in 45 CFR Section 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(g).

j. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States
Department of Health and Human Services.

k. "Protected Health Information" shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health
information" in 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.

cwv
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I. "Required bv Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45CFR
Section 164.103.

m. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164, SubpartC, and amendments thereto.

0. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means protected health information that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,

unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other Definitions - All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act.

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, including but not limited to all
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI:
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;
II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or
III. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i)
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was
disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI, to the extent it has obtained
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not, unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, without first notifying
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to the disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

3/2014 Exhibit I Contractor Initials
Health Insurance Portability Act
Business Associate Agreement 10/21/2021
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Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of
such additionar restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards.

(3) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected
health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security incident that may have an impact onthe
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall include, but not be
limited to:

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

o The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom the
disclosure was made;

o Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed
o The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has been

mitigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours of the
breach and immediately report the findings of the risk assessment in writing to the
Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, including
the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI
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pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

i. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related to
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.528.

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall makeavailable
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2)
business days fonward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding tofonwarded requests. However, if forwarding the
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the BusinessAssociate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
Durooses that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business
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Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) Obligations of Covered Entitv

a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to Individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section
164.506 or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.

(5) Termination for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit I. The Covered Entity may either immediately
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible, Covered Entity shall report the
violation to the Secretary.

(6) Miscellaneous

a. Definitions and Regulatory References. All terms used, but not otherwise.defined herein,
shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended
from time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I, to
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes in the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA, the Privacy and Security Rule.
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Seareaation. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I or the application thereof to any
person($) or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or condition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, return or
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) I, the
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms and conditions (P-37), shall survive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

Department of Health and Human Services

—OocuSign«d by;

tWiii S'
• ED8O0SB04C63442..

oiynaiuie ui Aumorized Representative

Katja S. Fox

Name of Authorized Representative

Di rector

Title of Authorized Representative

10/26/2021

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Name of the Contractor

Siyiidiuta UI Auuiuiized Representative

Barbara A. Vance

Name of Authorized Representative

Vice President of Research Operations

Title of Authorized Representative

10/21/2021

Date
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT (FFATAl COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $26,000 and awarded on or after October 1. 2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
8. Principle place of performance
9. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives if:

10.1. More than 60% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accountability and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

10/21/2021 t>oy{iey&,

Date Name: Barbara A. Vance
Title: Vice President of Research Operations

Exhibit J - Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initials.
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FORMA

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions, I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The DUNS number for vour entitv is: 06-991-0297

2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO YES

3.

If the answer to #2 above is NO, stop here

if the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following:

Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives In your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 16(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above Is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

CU/OHHS/l 10713
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A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. "Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information,
"Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" in section two (2) ofNlST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information," "Confidential Data," or "Data" (as defined in Exhibit K),
means all confidential information disclosed by one party to the other sueh as all
medical, health, financial, public assistance benefits and personal information
including without limitation. Substance Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records,
Protected Health Information and Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by
the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted services
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., contractor's employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS data or
derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and
the regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates a security policy, which includes
successful attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted
disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the processing or
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storage of data; and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software
characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent. Incidents
include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss or misplacement of
hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic documents or mail.

7. "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that is
not designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open network and not
adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHI or
confidential DHHS data.

8. "Personal Information" (or "PI") means information which can be used to distinguish
or trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is
linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's
maiden name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable
Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means Protected Health Information that is
not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American
National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information
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except as required or permitted under this Contract or required by law. Further,
Contractor, including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and
agents, must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would
constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a subpoena,
etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclosure.

3. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryption. If Contractor is transmitting DHHS Data containing
Confidential Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said
application's encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. Contractor may not use computer disks or
portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS Data.

3. Encrypted Email. Contractor may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such information.

4. Encrypted Web Site. If Contractor is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

6. Ground Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
ground mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If Contractor is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
wireless network. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If Contractor is employing remote communication to
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access or transmit Confidential Data, a secure method of transmission or remote
access, which complies with the terms and conditions of Exhibit K., must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
Contractor is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of
information. SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will

be coded for 24-hour auto-deletion cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Devices. If Contractor is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

III. RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of
this Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have thirty (30) days to destroy the data
and any derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or, if it is
infcasible to return or destroy DHHS Data, protections are extended to such information, in
accordance with the termination provisions in this Section. To this end, the parties must:

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United
States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place
to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilized for purposes of carrying out this contract.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End Users
in support of protecting DHHS Confidential information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and identified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, current, updated, and
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maintained anti-malware (e.g. anti-viral, anti-hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware)
utilities. The environment, as a whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and
firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information Officer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the
hosting infrastructure.

B. Disposition

If the Contractor maintains any Confidential Information on its systems (or its sub
contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Contractor will implement
policies and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such data maybe
recorded will be rendered unreadable and that the data will be un-recoverable when

the storage media is disposed of. Upon request, the Contractor will provide the
Department with copies of these policies and with written documentation
demonstrating compliance with the policies. The written documentation will include
all details necessary to demonstrate data contained in the storage media has been
rendered unreadable and un-recoverable. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State and Contractor prior to destruction.

1. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a
secure method such as shredding.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by means of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any
derivative data or files, as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contracted services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the information lifeeycle, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the media
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used to Store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).

3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

4. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will ensure End-
User will maintain an internal process or processes that defines specific security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

5. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system access
being authorized.

6. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor will not store any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior express written
consent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership member within
the Department.

8. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any computer security incident,
incident, or breach Contractor shall make efforts to investigate the causes of the
breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring
services, mailing costs and costs associated with website and telephone call center
services necessary due to the breach.

9. Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 C.F.R. Parts 160
and 164) and 42 C.F.R. Part 2 that govern protections for individually identifiable
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health information and as applicable under State law.

10. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the Stale of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at https://www.nh.gov/doit/vendor/index.htm
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

11. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor must notify the DHHS Security Office and the Program
Contact via the email addresses provided in Section VI of this Exhibit, immediately
upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occurred and
that DHHS confidential Information/data may have been exposed or compromised.
This includes a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or
suspected breach which affects or includes any State of New Hampshire systems that
connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform
their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

13. The Contractor is responsible for End User oversight and compliance with the
terms and conditions of the contract and Exhibit K.

DHHS reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract, including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must immediately notify the State's Privacy Officer, information
Security Office and Program Manager of any Security Incidents and Breaches as
specified in Section IV, paragraph 11 above.

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with—the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In addition
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to, and notwithstanding, Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and
procedures, Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

C. DHHS contact for Information Security issues:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for Breach notifications:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

DHHSPrivacvOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

E. DHHS Program Area Contact:

Christine.Bean@dhhs.nh.gov

U\J
April, 2020 Exhibit K Contractor Initials

DHHS Information

Security Requirements 10/21/2021
Page 8 of 8 Date
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

1, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on

August 07. 1889. 1 further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secrctaiy of Stale's offiee have been received and is

in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0005357410

Urn

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be afTixcd

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 26th day of April A.D. 2021.

William M. Gardner

Secrctaiy of State
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Dartmouth-Hitchcocl<

DodmoulK Milchcock

Dorimouih Hilchcock Medicol Conler

1 Mcdicol Csnlef Dnvo

•lobonon, NH 03756

Dattmoi/lhHtlclx:ock org

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHOIUTY

1, Edvvaid H, Slansfield. Ill, of Dailmoiith-Hilchcock Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, do hereby ceitify that:

1. I am the duly elected Chair of the Board ofTnistees of Dailinouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial Hospital;

2  The following is a tiiic and accurate excerpt from the December 7"\ 2012 Bylaws of Daitmoiith-Hitchcock Clinic

and Maiy Hitchcock Mcmoiinl Hospital;

ARTICLE I - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stcwai dship over Corporate Assets

"in exercising this [llduciaiy] duty, the Board may, consistent with the Corporation's Articles of Agreement and

these Bylaws, delegate authoiity to the Boaid of Governois, Bonid Committees and vatious officers the right to

give input with respect to issues and stiategies, Incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter into contiacls and

agiccmcnis and take such othci binding actions on behalf of the Coipoialion as may be necessary or dcsiiable."

3. Article I - Section A, as lefeienced above, piovides authoiity for the chief officcis, including the Chief Executive

Officer, the Chief Clinical Officer, and other officers, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memoiial Hospital to sign and deliver, cither individually oi collectively, on behalf of Dailniouth-Hitchcock Clinic

and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

4  Edwaid J. Meiiens, MD is IheChiefClinical Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Maiy Hitchcock Memorial

Hospital and theiefoie has the authority to enter into contiacls and agi cements on behalf of Daitmouth-Hitchcock

Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 1 have iieieunlo set my hand as the Chair of the Boaid ofTnistees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memoiial Hosnita! this day of i

Edv^rd H. Stansfield, III, Board Chair

STATE OF m.

COUNTY OF GRAFTON

The foiegoing instrument was acknowledged befoie me this I day ofQ;id2£t£^Xby Edward M, Stansfield, III.

Notaiy Public / i
My Commission Expiics: / fZO^L>

'' I \n'.MY \Q,%
s  .• COMMtSS/ON ' «
=  ; . expires =I ; AUG. 4,2024 ; =

%
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock

DELEGATION OF SIGNATURE AUTHORITY

RESEARCH CONTRACTS AND SPONSORED PROGRAM AGREEMENTS

The authority to sign contracts, grants, consortia, center, cooperative and other research and
sponsored program agreements ("Contracts") on behalf of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
and Dartmputh-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") is delegated by the Chief
Executive OfTicer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock to the Executive Vice President of Research and
Education (and, in her absence of unavailability, to another Chief Officer of Dartmouth-
Hitchcock).

The authority to sign Contracts on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock yvhich have afunding amount
not to exceed $3,000,000 and which have a term ofless thanfive (5) years is hereby sub-
delegated by the Executive Vice President of Research and Education to the Vice President of
Research Operations.

A Contract,means an agreement between two or more persons that creates a legally binding
obligation to do or not to do a particular thing. A Contract may be titled as an agreement, a
memorandum of understanding, memorandum of agreement, a promise to pay, or may use other
terminology. A Contract may or may not involve the payment of money.

Additional sub-delegation of signature authority may only be made upon written authorization,of
the Executive Vice President of Research and Education.

An individual with delegated/subTdelegated signature authority who signs a Contract on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock has the responsibility to ensure that the Contract follows Dartmouth-
Hitchcock policies, rules and guidelines and all applicable laws and regulations.

The effective date of this sub-delegation shall be the date executed by the Executive Vice
President of Research and Education, as set, forth below, and shall continue until revocation by
the Executive Vice President of Research and Education.

Susan A. Reeves, EdD, RN
Executive Vice President of Research and Education

Date: July ,2018
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COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401
INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive

Lebanon, NH 03756-

(603)653-6850

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002021-A 7/1/2021 7/1/2022 EACH

OCCURRENCE

X

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

CLAIMS MADE

MEDICAL

EXPENSES

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG

$1,000,000

$1,000,000

N/A

$1,000,000

$1,000,000

0002021-A 07/01/2021 07/01/2022 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000
PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

X
CLAIMS MADE ANNUAL

AGGREGATE
$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate Is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health & Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mall such notice shall Impose no
obligation or liabilit>- of any kind upon the company. Its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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ACOKO CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE OAixeacDorvvvY]

6/30/2021

THIS CERTinCATH tS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORUATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATTVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POUCIES
BELOW THIS CERTIRCATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTmJTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZEO
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER AND THE CERTIRCATE HOLDER

IMPORTANT: If the certlficalehoJderisanADDrTONALWSURED.thepolicy<ies)inus1haveADOmONALINSUREDprovisioosorbeendorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditiorts of the poBcy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
thb certincate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsemerrtts).

License §Mma

HUB International New England

Cun^wi^^oreside, UE 04110

Angela Cdumbus

S?^M:(774|2SS-e204
f Angela.Columt>usAhubintenuttonaLcom

INtUREmS 1 AfeORtXNO COVEJUOe NAIC«

MsuRERA:Safety National Casualty Corporation 15105

DUURED

Dartmouth-Hitchoock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.
Lebanon. KH p37M

RMunERB;

MIURFKC;

POURBtO:

PC3URERE:

eOURERF:

COVBIAGES CBTTinCATE MUMBBt REVISION NUMBER
THIS B TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLiaES OF DCURANCE USTED oaOW HAVE BEEN B30C0 TO THE INSURED KAMEO ABOVE FOR THE POUCY PERIOO
INDICATE). MOTTVTTHSTAHDING ANY REQUnSMENT. TERM OR CONDTnON OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUUENTV/ITH RESPECT TO WHICH THB
CERTtnCATE MAY BE tSSl^ OR MAY PERTAIN. THE DtSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POUCIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONOmONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LnHTS SHOVTN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

I.KMJCYgl' I POUCYEXPFoocYKuicol jHsgBtmrn seassmmiTVTCOFMMIRA»ICE
JSoCi
am

ftup
jecoi

wis
LQ.

.flEyt XXlRSiaiS LWTAPE11E9 roc

fcucyI □loc

COKKERCtAL OENSUL UABOrTY

CUWIiOMADE I I OCOtR
EACHOOOURPE^^
IWMGE TO FCNTED
PBBMtsea ecawwicel

tCDEXPCAmrenepewcnl

FER3CWI.tA£AflKA)RT

PROOUCT8-OOI.fflOFAOO

MTTQIMSaE UA8UTY
00MBWED SWOIE LMT
lPa»rc»f«>

ANVAJTO
liTiCO

ONLY

UBRaiALM

GCCCMUAa

eOCOULEO
Auroe

BOOL.Y BilLRY IPcTMncrL

80QK.YBinjrffftr«ctlBeTt0

OOOUR

O/OOMNie

EACHOOCUWENa

AQOREOAT^

DCO RETBTTIONi

WOnCERI CptWBflATWNAMOa»LC?^LMBa^
ANYFWOPWETCWttWffUrilPCCUTAlE I 1gg^^jj^ecgj^j LJ
ir W3. dewbe
DE8CAIPT>0NOFOPEHA'nONEWww

A6C406518S r/1i2021 771/2022

X* fiTATmi?

EJ..EA£»4.^CCiOT 1,000.000

£L0»S£A6e-EAEIJFtCVEE 1.000,000

E.LOCSASE-POLICY LMTT
1,000,000

DElCiemONOFOfBtATIOiefLOCAJOH/WMKlE* (ACORO 1*1
Evidence of Wodiers Cocnpensitran coverage for

Cheshire Uerfcal Center
Dartnuuth41itehcbck Hea&h
Uary Hitchcock Memonat Hospital
Mice f^ech Dw Memorial Hos^tal
New London Hospital Association
iy|L Ascutney Ho^tal^ Health Center

AddWoul RmM MnWW. MOT to NbdM ■ man ssM h ra«ewr)

CERTinCATE HOLDER CANCELLATTOW

NHOHHS
129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POUOES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATNM DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WtU. BE OaTVERED IN
ACCORDANCE VATH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

AUTHCRZED RCPRElEKTATTtC

ACORD 25(2010^3) «1888-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. AO rights reserved
TTw ACORD rvame and logo an registsredjnaria of ACORD
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmouth-Hitchcock (D-H) is comprised of the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

and several clinics throughout New Hampshire and Vermont. Our physicians and

researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and faculty as well as

other leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the cutting edge of

medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock includes:

13
Sk

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC)

DHMC is the state's only academic medical center, and the only Level I Adult and Pediatric

Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Advanced Response Team

(DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides ground and air medical

transportation to communities throughout northern New England. DHMC was named in

2020 as the #1 hospital in New Hampshire by U.S. News & World Report

(https://heaith.usnews.com/best-hospitais/area/nh), and recognized for high performance in nine

clinical specialties, procedures, and conditions.
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The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic is a network of primary and speciality care physicians

located throughout New Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices

in Lebanon, Concord, Manchester. Nashua, and Keene, NH, and Bennington, VT.

r i.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital is New Hampshire's only teaching hospital, with an

inpatient capacity of 396 beds.

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth-Hitchcock (CHaD)

CHaD is New Hampshire's only children's hospital and a member of the Children's

Hospital Association, providing advanced pediatric inpatient, outpatient and surgical

services at DHMC in Lebanon as well as in Bedford, Concord, Manchester, Nashua, and

Dover, NH.
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Norris Cotton Cancer Center INCCC)

NCCC is a designated Comprehensive Cancer Center by the National Cancer Institute,

and is one of the premier facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and

education. Interdisciplinary teams, devoted to the treatment of specific types of cancer,

work together to care for patients of all ages in Lebanon. Manchester, Nashua, Keene. NH.

and St. Johnsbury, VT.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community

partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time,

every time.

Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in

our region and setting the standard for our nation.

Our values

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• Trust

• Teamwork

• Stewardship

• Community
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Learn more aooui us

• Facts and Figures

• Community Outreach

• Collaborations

• Population Health

• Awards and Honors

• History

Copyright © 2021 Dartmouth-Hitchcock. All rights reserved
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

and Subsidiaries
Report on Federal Awards in Accordance With the
Uniform Guidance

June 30, 2020
EiN #02-0222140
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
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pwc
Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Health and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets
as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets and of cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the Health System's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health
System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5OO1, www.pwc.com/us
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, and the results of their operations, changes in net assets and their cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Health System changed the
manner in which it accounts for leases and the presentation of net periodic pension costs in 2020.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Other Matter

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or
to the consolidated financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for
purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the
financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of the individual
companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and
cash flows of the individual companies.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the
year ended June 30, 2020 is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Avi/ards (Uniform Guidance) and is not a required part of the
consolidated financial statements. The information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the
consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures, in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
schedule of expenditures of federal awards Is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 17. 2020 on our consideration of the Health System's internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts
and grant agreements and other matters for the year ended June 30, 2020. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
perfonned in accordance with Govemment Auditing Standards in considering the Health System's
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Boston, Massachusetts

November 17, 2020
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2020 and 2019
(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable (Note 4)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7)
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7)
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6)
Right of use assets, net (Note 16)
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Current portion of right of use obligations (Note 16)
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11 and 14)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 4 and 17)

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10)
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 16)
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12)
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11 and 14)
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4, 6, 7, 10, 13, 16 and 17)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9)
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9)

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2020 2019

$  453,223 $ 143.587

183,819 221,125

161,906 95,495

798,948 460,207

1,134,526 876,249

140.580 134,119

643,586 621,256

57,585 -

137,338 . 124,471

$  2,912,563 $ 2,216,302

$  9,467 $ 10,914

11,775 -

3,468 3,468

129,016 113,817

142,991 128,408

302,525 41,570

599,242 298,177

1,138,530 752,180

46,456 -

77,146 58,407

324,257 281,009

143,678 124,136

2,329,309 1,513,909

431,026 559,933

152,228 142,460

583,254 702,393

$  2,912,563 $ 2,216,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue (Note 4)
Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue (Note 5)
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses

Salaries'

Employee benefits
Medications and medical supplies

Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest (Note 10)

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) income

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income, net (Note 5)

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11)
Other losses, net (Note 10)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

Total non-operating gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

2020 2019

$  1,880,025 $ 1.999,323

74,028 75,017

374,622 210,698

16,260 14,105

2.344.935 2.299,143

1,144,823 1,062,551

272,872 262,812

455,381 407,875

360,496 323,435

76,010 70,061

92,164 88,414

27,322 25,514

2,429,068 2,240,662

(84,133) 58,481

27,047 ■ 40,052

10,810 11,221

(2,707) (3,562)
- (87)

35,150 47,624

$  (48,983) $ 106,105

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continues on Next Page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Net assets without donor restrictions

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses
Net assets released from restrictions for capital

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11)

Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
Investment income, net

Net assets released from restrictions

Contribution of assets with donor restrictions from acquisition

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions

Change in net assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

2020 2019

$  (48,983) $ 106,105

1,414 1,769

(79,022) ■ (72,043)

(2.316) -

(128,907) 35,831

26,312 17,436

1,130 2,682

(17,674) (15,874)
- 383

9,768 4,627

(119,139) 40,458

702,393 661,935

$  583,254 $ 702,393

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of right of use asset
Payments on right of use lease obligations - operating
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits
Gain on disposal of fixed assets

Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments
Restricted contributions and investment earnings

Proceeds from sales of securities

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets, net

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment
Purchases of investments

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments

Cash received through acquisition

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit

Payments on line of credit
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of debt

Repayment of finance lease
Payment of debt issuance costs
Restricted contributions and investment earnings

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year

End of year

Supplemental cash flow Information
Interest paid

Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aquired
Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

Donated securities

2020 2019

$ (119,139) $ 40,458

93,857 88,770

8,218 -

(7,941) -

79,022 72,043

(39) (1,101)

(14,060) (31,397)
(3,605) (2,292)

-
1,167

37,306 (1,803)

(78,907) 2,149

(13,385) (9,052)

9,772 17,898

14,583 2,335

260,955 429

18,739 2,378

(35,774) (33,104)

19,542 12,267

269,144 161,145

(128,019) (82,279)

2,987 2,188

(321,152) (361,407)

82,986 219,996

- 4,863

(363,198) (216,639)

35,000 30,000

(35,000) (30,000)

(10,665) (29,490)

415,336 26,338

(2,429) -

(2,157) (228)

3,605 2,292

403,690 (1,088)

309,636 (56,582)

143,587 200,169

$ 453,223 $ 143,587

$ 22,562 $ 23,977

-
(4,863)

17,177 1,546

. 1,167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Subsidiaries (DHG), Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
Subsidiaries (MHMH), (DHG and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London
Hospital Association and Subsidiaries (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney
Hospital and Health Center) and Subsidiaries (MAHHC), Cheshire Medical Center and Subsidiaries
(Cheshire), Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and Subsidiary (APD), and the Visiting Nurse and
Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire and Subsidiaries (VNH). The "Health System" consists
of D-HH, its members and their subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health
and hospice service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions
and is the principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of
Dartmouth College.

D-HH, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, The New London Hospital
Association, Cheshire Medical Center, and Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital are NH not-for-profit
corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code (IRC). Windsor Hospital Corporation and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VT and NH are
VT -not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the

" IRC. '

On September 30, 2019, D-HH and GraniteOne Health ("GOH") entered into an agreement ("The
Combination Agreement") to combine their respective healthcare systems. The GOH system is
comprised of Catholic Medical Center ("CMC"), an acute care community hospital in Manchester,
New Hampshire, Huggins Hospital ("HH") located in Wolfeboro, NH and Monadnock Community
Hospital, ("MCH") located in Petersborough, NH. Both HH and MCH are designated as Criticai
Access Hospitals. The three member hospitals of GOH have a combined licensed bed count of 380
beds. GOH is a non-profit, community based health care system. The overarching rationale for the
proposed combination is to improve access to high quality primary and specialty care in the most
convenient, cost-effective sites of service for patients and the communities served by D-HH and
GOH, Other stated benefits of the combination include reinforcing the rural health network,
investing in needed capacity to accommodate unmet and anticipated demand, and drawing on our
combined strengths to attract the necessary health care workforce. The parties have submitted
regulatory filings with the Federal Trade Commission and the New Hampshire Attorney General's
office seeking approval of the proposed transaction.

Community Benefits
The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community
partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent with this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves
regardless of a patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based
healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work coliaboratively with other
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area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic
and research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state community benefit report. The categories used in the Community
Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Services Include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical services (such
as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care, etc.).

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students.
Residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized heaith services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

•  Financial Contributions include financial contributions of cash, as well as in-kind contributions
such as time, supplies, and expertise to local organizations to address community health
needs.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Community Benefit Operations includes costs associated with staff dedicated to administering
benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs, and other costs associated with
community benefit planning and operations.

•  Charity Care and Costs of Government Sponsored Health Care includes losses, at-cost,
incurred by providing health care services to persons qualifying for hospital financial
assistance programs, and uncompensated costs of providing health care services to patients
who are Medicaid Beneficiaries.

•  The uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2019 was approximately $143,013,000. The 2020 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2021.
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The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2019:

(in thousands of dollars)

Government-sponsored healthcare services $ 291,013
Health professional education 40.621
Charity care 15,281
Subsidized health services 15,165
Community health services 6,895
Research 5,238
Community building activities 3,777
Financial contributions -597
Community benefit operations

Total community benefit value $ 380,806

In fiscal years 2020 and 2019, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $1,224,000 and $487,000, respectively.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, and gains and losses of healthcare
entitles are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-Imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-Imposed
stipulations and are available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose
use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been
restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted In the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

(Deficiency) Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the (deficiency)
excess of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the
care of patients, including contributions and investment income on Investments of net assets
without donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support.
Peripheral activities, including contribution of net assets without donor restrictions from
acquisitions, loss on early extinguishment of debt, realized gains/losses on sales of investment
securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses on Investments are reported as non-operating
gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the (deficiency) excess
of revenue over expenses, consistent with Industry practice. Include contributions of long-lived
assets (Including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of acquiring such assets, and change In funded status of pension and other
postretlrement benefit plans.

Charity Care

The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.

10
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The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue primarily consists of
revenue from retail pharmacy, which the Health System records as customer revenues in the
amounts that reflect the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
prescription. Other revenue also includes the Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS")
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act ("CARES Act" Provider Relief Funds
("Provider Relief Funds") operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales and other support
service revenue.

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions: short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase and other highly liquid
investments, primarily cash management funds. Short-term highly liquid investments held within
the endowment and similar investment pools are classified as investments rather than cash
equivalents and restricted cash is defined as that which is legally restricted to withdrawal and
usage.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether

11
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held at fair value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at what the Health System
believes to be the amount they would expect to receive if it liquidated its investments at the balance
sheet dates on a non-distressed basis.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System's ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
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leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or toss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$10,007,000 and $10,524,000 as intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is. when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

13
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01- Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance aliows an entity to choose,
investment-by-investment, to report an equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such
as the fair value of debt) was early adopted during the year ended June 30, 2017. The standard
has been adopted during the current fiscal year and no material impact was noted.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 - Leases (Topic 842). Under the new guidance,
lessees are required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of leases with a
term of twelve months or less) at the commencement date: (a) a lease liability, which is a lessee's
obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (b) a

• right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee's right to use, or control the use of,
a specified asset for the lease term. Leases are classified as either operating or finance, Operating
leases result in straight-line expense in the statement of operations (similar to previous operating
leases), while finance leases result in more expense being recognized in the earlier years of the
lease term (similar to previous capital leases). The Health System adopted the new standard on
July 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. The Health System elected the transition
method that allows for the application of the standard at the adoption date rather than at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements.
The Health System also elected available practical expedients (Note 16).

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretiremen! Benefit
Cost. Under the new standard, the service cost component of the net benefit cost will be included
within income from operations as a component of benefits expenses and the other components of
net benefit cost as defined by ASC 715 will be reported in non-operating activities within the
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. The standard also prohibits
reporting of the other components of net benefit cost in the same line as other pension related
changes on the statements of operations and changes in net assets. ASU 2017-07 is effective for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and is applied on a retrospective basis.

Reclassifications

As a result of adopting the provisions of ASU 2017-07, the Health System reclassified $11,221,000
from benefits expense to non-operating activities within the consolidated statements of operations
and changes in net assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. The amount included in non-
operating activities for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020 was $10,810,000.

14
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3. Acquisition

Effective July 1, 2018, Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital became the sole corporate member of
APD LifeCare Center Inc. (LifeCare). LifeCare owns and operates Harvest Hill, an assisted living
facility, the Woodlands, a residential living community and the Elizabeth S. Hughes Care Unit,
which provides hospice care.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, Alice
Peck Day Memorial Hospital recorded goodwill related to the acquisition of LifeCare of
approximately $5,131,000. Restricted contribution income of $383,000 was recorded within net
assets with donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statement of changes in net

assets. Included in the transaction was LifeCare's cash balance of $4,863,000. No consideration
was exchanged for the net assets assumed and acquisition costs were expensed as incurred.

4. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.
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Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system ("PPS") to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system ("DRG"), based on diagnostic, clinical and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to New Hampshire ("NH") and Vermont ("VT")
Medicaid beneficiaries are based on PPS. while outpatient services are reimbursed on a
retrospective cost basis or fee schedules for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries
are paid on a prospective basis per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by critical access hospitals ("CAH")
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.

Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (Plans) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
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The Plans are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
Plans following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and as such are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of annual net
patient revenue. In fiscal years 2020 and 2019, home health provider taxes paid were $624,000
and $628,000, respectively.

Medicald Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital

On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicald
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SPY) 2020 through SPY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $71,133,000 and $69,179,000 respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit and
therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Health System recognized as revenue
DSH receipts of approximately $67,500,000 and approximately $64,864,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30. 2020 and 2019, the Health System recorded State of NH MET
and State of VT Provider taxes of $76,010,000 and $70,061,000, respectively. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in
net assets.

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible
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accounts, net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based
on historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the
estimation process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally
recorded as adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations. As of June 30, 2020
and 2019, the Health System had reserves of $302,525,000 and $41,570,000, respectively,
recorded in Estimated third-party settlements. Included in the 2020 Estimated third party
settlements is $239,500,000 of Medicare accelerated and advanced payments, received as
working capital support during the novel coronavirus {"COVID-IO") outbreak at June 30, 2020. In
addition, $10,900,000 has been recorded in Other liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

For the years ended June 30. 2020 and 2019, additional increases in revenue of $2,314,000 and
$1,800,000, respectively, were recognized due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues for the hospital operations of the PPS and CAH, and other business
segments consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients covered by
Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as well as patients covered under the
Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of net operating revenues presented at the net
transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

2020

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital

Medicare $ 461,990 $ 64,087 $ 526,077

Medicaid 130,901 10,636 141,537

Commercial 718,576 60,715 779,291

Self Pay 2,962 2,501 5,463

Subtotal 1.314,429 137,939 1,452,368

Professional

Professional 383,503 22,848 406,351

.  VNA - - 21,306

Other Revenue - - 376,185

Provider Relief Fund - - 88,725

Total operating revenue and
other support $ 1,697,932 $ 160,787 $ 2,344,935

2019

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital

Medicare $ 456,197 $ 72,193 $ 528,390

Medicaid 134,727 12,794 147,521

Commercial 746.647 64,981 811,628

Self Pay 8,811 2,313 11,124

Subtotal 1,346,382 152,281 1,498,663

Professional

Professional 454,425 23,707 478,132

VNA - - 22,528

Other Revenue - - 299,820

Total operating revenue and
other support $ 1,800,807 $ 175,988 $ 2,299,143

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2020 and 2019;

2020 2019

Medicare

Medicaid

Commercial

Self Pay
Patient accounts receivable

36%

13%

39%

12%

34%

12%

"41%

13%

100% 100%
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5. Investments

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
Cash and short-term Investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging markets equities
Real Estate Investment Trust

. Private equity funds'
Hedge funds

Investments held by captive Insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments

Total assets limited as to use

Other Investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities
Emerging markets equities
Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Other

Total other investments for restricted activities

Total investments

1  in the following table

2020 2019

$  9,646 $ 21,890

103,977 91,492

199,462 196,132

70,145 83,580

203,010 167,384

123,205 128,909

22,879 23,086

313 213

74.131 64,563

36,964 32,287

843,732 809,536

15,402 23,241

8,651 11,378

8,166 10,080

15,150 14,617

7,227 6,766

54,596 66,082

236,198 631

1,134,526 876,249

7,186 6,113

28,055 32,479

35,440 29,089

11,476 11,263

26,723 20,981

15,402 15,531

2,766 2,578

9,483 7,638

4,013 8.414

36 33

140,580 134,119

$  1,275,106 $ 1,010,368
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when Investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above. All investments,
whether the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health
System believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a non-distressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2020

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $  253,030 $ - $ 253,030

U.S. government securities 147,434 -
147,434

Domestic corporate debt securities 198,411 45,142 243,553

Global debt securities 44,255 45,532 89,787

Domestic equities 195,014 49,869 244,883

International equities 77,481 68,353 145,834

Emerging markets equities 1,257 24,388 25,645

Real Estate Investment Trust 313 - 313

Private equity funds -
83,614 83,614

Hedge funds -
40,977 40,977

Other 36 - 36

$  917,231 $ 357,875 $ 1,275,106

2019

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $  28,634 $ - $ 28,634

U.S. government securities 147,212 -
147,212

Domestic corporate debt securities 164,996 71,603 236,599

Global debt securities 55,520 49,403 104,923

Domestic equities 178.720 24,262 202,982

International equities 76,328 74,878 151,206

Emerging markets equities 1,295 24,369 25,664

Real Estate Investment Trust 213 -

213

Private equity funds - 72,201 72,201

Hedge funds - 40,701 40,701

Other 33 - 33

$  652,951 $ 357,417 $ 1,010.368
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For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 investment income is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and changes In net assets as other operating revenue of
approximately $936,000 and $983,000 and as non-operating gains of approximately $27,047,000
and $40,052,000, respectively,

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third party buyers in private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2020 and
2019, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $172,819,000 and
$164,319,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$119,142,000 and $109,584,000 and has outstanding commitments of $53,677,000 and
$54,735,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30, 2020 and 2019;

(in thousands of dollars)

Land

Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Equipment under capital leases

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Total depreciable assets, net

Construction in progress

2020 2019

$  40,749 $  38,232

39,820 42,607

893,081 898,050

927,233 888,138
- 15,809

1,900,883 1,882,836

1,356,521 1,276,746

544,362 606,090

99,224 15,166

$  643,586 $  621,256

As of June 30, 2020, construction in progress primarily consists of two projects. The first project,
started in fiscal 2019, consists of the addition of the ambulatory surgical center (ASC) located in
Manchester, NH. The estimated cost to complete the project is $42 million. The anticipated
completion date is the second quarter of fiscal 2021. The second project, involves the addition of the
in-patient tower located in Lebanon, NH. The estimated cost to complete the tower project is $140
million over the next three fiscal years.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2019, included both the ASC, as well as renovations
taking place at the various pharmacy locations to bring their facilities compliant with Regulation
USP800. The pharmacy upgrade was completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2021.
Capitalized interest of $2,297,000 and $0 is included in Construction in progress as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating and non-operating activities was
approximately $92,217,000 and $88,496,000 for 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis;

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price

reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Health System
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the
use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:
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2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Asset*

Investments

Cash and short term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging market equities
Real estate investment trust

Other

Total Investments

Deferred compensation plan assets

Redemption Days'

Level .1. Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

$  253,030 S •  $ S  253,030 Daily 1

147.434 147.434 Daily 1

17,577 180.834 198,411 Daily-Monthly 1-15

22.797 21,458 44,255 Daily-Monthly 1-15

187,354 7,660 195,014 Daily-Monthly 1-10

77,461 . 77.481 Daiiy-Monthty 1-11

1,257 . 1.257 Daily-Monthly 1-7

313 . • 313 Daily-Monthly 1-7

2 34 36 Not applicable Not applicable

707,245 209,966 917.231

Total deterred compensation
plan assets

Beneficial interest in trusts

Total assets

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

investments

Cash and short term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging market equities

Real estate investment trust

Other

Total investments

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities

Emerging market equities
Real estate

Muiti strategy fund
Guaranteed contract

Total deferred compensation
plan assets

BeneTidal interest in trusts

Total assets

Cash and short-term investments 5,754

U.S. government securities 51

Domestic corporate debt securities 7.194

Global debt securities 1,270

Domestic equities 24,043

interrrational equities 3.571

Emerging market equities 27

Real estate 11

Muiti strategy fund 51.904

Guaranteed contract -

92

5,754

51

•7.194

1.270

24.043

3,571

27

11

51,904

92

93.825 92 93,917 Not applicable Not applicable

. . 9,202 9,202 Not applicable Not applicable

S  801,070 S 209.966 S 9,294 S 1,020,350

2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Redemption

or Liquidation

Days'

Notice

28,634 S •  S .  s 28.634 Daily 1

147,212 - - 147,212 Daily 1

34,723 130.273 - 164,996 Daily-Monthly 1-15

28,412 27.108 . 55,520 Daily-Monthly 1-15

171.318 7,402 - 178,720 Daily-Monthly .1-10

76,295 33 . 76,328 Daily-Monthly 1-11

1,295 . . 1,295 Daily-Monthly 1-7

213 .
- 213 Daily-Monthly 1-7

. 33 - 33 Not applicable Not applicable

488.102 164,849 . 652,951

2.952

45

4,932

1.300

22.403

3,576

27

11

46,941
89

2.952

45

4,932

1,300

22,403

3,576

27

11

46,941

89

84,187 69 84.276 Not applicable Not applicable.

. . 9,301 9,301 Not applicable Not applicable

S  572,289 S 164.849 $ 9.390 $ 746,528
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The following table is a rollforward of financial instruments classified by the Health System within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above.

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year

Net unrealized (losses) gains

Balances at end of year

(In thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year

Net unrealized (losses) gains

Balances at end of year

2020

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual Guaranteed

Trust Contract Total

$ 9,301 $ 89 $ 9,390

(99) 3 (96)

$ 9,202 $ 92 $ 9.294

2019

Beneficial

Interest In

Perpetual Guaranteed

Trust Contract Total

$ 9,374 $ 86 $ 9,460

(73) 3 (70)

$ 9,301 $ 89 $ 9,390

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2020 and
2019:

(In thousands of dollars)

Investments held in perpetuity

Healthcare services

Research

Health education

Charity care
Other

Purchase of equipment

2020

59,352

33.976

22,116

16,849

12,366
4.488

3.081

152.228 $

2019

56,383

20.140

26.496

19,833

12,494

3,841

3.273

142,460

Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.
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9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions,

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions which
are to be held in perpetuity consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund,

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investmeht return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds; the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
incorhe, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30. 2020 and 2019.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2020 and
2019:

2020

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $ 80,039 $ 80,039

Board-designated endowment funds 33,714 - 33,714

Total endowed net assets $  33,714 $ 80,039 $ 113,753

2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $ 78,268 $ 78,268

Board-designated endowment funds 31,421 - •  31,421

Total endowed net assets $  31,421 $ 78,268 $ 109,689

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30. 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Balances at beginning of year $  31,421 $ 78,268 $ 109,689

Net investment return 713 1,460 2,173

Contributions 890 2.990 3,880

Transfers 14 267 281

Release of appropriated funds 676 (2,946) (2,270)

Balances at end of year $  33,714 $ 80,039 $ 113.753

Balances at end of year
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Net assets with donor restrictions

80,039

6.782

86,821
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2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Balances at beginning of year $  29,506 $  78,197 $ 107,703

Net investment return 1,184 2,491 3,675
Contributions 804 1,222 2,026

Transfers (73) (1,287) (1,360)
Release of appropriated funds - (2,355) (2,355)

Balances at end of year $  31.421 $  78.268 $ 109,689

Balances at end of year
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts
Net assets with donor restrictions

78,268

8,422

86,690
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $ 83,355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 20188, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102
Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435 122,435
Series 20178, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,800 109,800
Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4) ' 99,165
Series 20180, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5) 25,160 25,865

. Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 24,315 25,145
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7) 19,765 26,960
Series 20148, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14.530
Series 20168, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970 10,970

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2023 (9) 125,000

Total obligated group debt $ 1,062,597 $ 722.162
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (continued):

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Other

Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through July 2015;
collateralized by associated equipment $ 287 $ 445
Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free 273 323
Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through November 2046 2,560 2,629
Obligations under capital leases 17,526

Total nonobligated group debt 3,120 20,923
Total obligated group debt 1,062,597 722,162

Total long-term debt 1,065,717 743,085

Add: Original Issue premium and discounts, net 89,542 25,542

Less: Current portion 9,467 10,914
Debt issuance costs, net 7,262 5,533

$  1,138,530 $ 752,180

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020

2021 $ 9,467

2022 9,419
2023 131,626

2024 . 1.871
2025 1.954
Thereafter 911,380

$  1,065,717

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG in 1993 for the original purpose of issuing bonds financed through
NHHEFA or the "Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and, APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.
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Revenue Bonds issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in the
name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B in February
2018. The Series 2018A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A. The Series 20188 were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A, Revolving Line of Credit, Series 2012 Bank Loan and the Series
2015A and Series 2016A Swap terminations. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of
approximately $578,000 was recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of
operations and changes in net assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series
2018A Revenue Bonds is variable with a current interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable
amounts through 2037. The interest on the Series 2018B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an
interest rate of 4.18% and matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds Series 2020A in February, 2020. The proceeds
from the Series 2020A Revenue Bonds are being used primarily to fund the construction of a
212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon, NH as well as various equipment. The
interest on the Series 2020A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 5.00% and
matures in variable amounts through 2059.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. Series 2017A and Series 2017B in December,
2017. The Series 2017A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund Series 2009 and
Series 2010 and the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds were used to refund Series 2012A and
Series 2012B. The interest on the Series 2017A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate
of 5.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2040. The interest on the Series 2017B
Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.54% and matures in variable amounts through
2031.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds Series 2019A in October, 2019. The proceeds
from the Series 2019A Revenue Bonds are being used primarily to fund the construction of a
91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH to include an Ambulatory Surgical
Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2019A Revenue Bonds is fixed
with an interest rate of 4.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2043.
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(5) Series 20180 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C in August, 2018. The Series 2018C
Revenue Bonds were used primarily to refinance the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds. The interest
on the series 2018C Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 3.22% and matures in
variable amounts through 2030.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The NHHEFA issued $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds
of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the settlement

cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds have fixed interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% {a net
interest cost of 3.96%), and matures in variable amounts through 2039.

(7) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B in August 2014.
The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to partially refund
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2014A
Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates through
2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 4.00% and
matures at various dates through 2033.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B in Juiy 2016 through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B Revenue Bonds were used to finance
2016 projects. The Series 20168 is fixed with an interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various
dates through 2045.

(9) Note payable to financial institution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-
.  19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital as needs require.

The interest on the note payable is fixed with an interest rate of 2.02% and matures in 2023.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2020 and 2019 approximates
$1,062,597,000 and $722,162,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $236,198,000 and
$631,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of
approximately $9,286,000 and $1,331,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are classified
as other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The debt service
reserves are mainly comprised of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2020 and escrowed
funds held for future principal and interest payments at June 30, 2019.
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For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 interest expense on the Health System's long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $27,322,000 and $25,514,000 and other non-
operating losses of $3,784,000 and $3,784,000, respectively.

11. Employee Benefits

All eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans within the Health System have been frozen and therefore there are
no remaining participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DDL). The Health System
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019;

(in thousands of dollars)

Service cost for benefits earned during the year

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net loss amortization

Total net periodic pension expense

2020

170 $

43,433

(62,436)

12,032 _

(6,801) $

2019

150

47.814

(65,270)
10,357

(6,949)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2020 and 2019:

2020 2019

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

3.00% - 3.10%

N/A

7.50%

3.90 % -4.60%

N/A

7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 1,135,523 $ 1,087,940

Service cost 170 150

Interest cost 43,433 47,814

Benefits paid (70,778) (51,263)

Expenses paid (168) (170)

Actuarial loss 139,469 93,358

Settlements (38,549) (42,306)

Benefit obligation at end of year 1,209,100 1,135,523

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 897,717 884,983

Actual return on plan assets 121,245 85,842

Benefits paid (70,778) (51,263)

Expenses paid (168) (170)

Employer contributions 19,986 20.631

Settlements (38,549) (42,306)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 929.453 897.717

Funded status of the plans (279.647) (237,806)

Less: Current portion of liability for pension (46) (46)

Long term portion of liability for pension (279,601) (237,760)

Liability for pension $ (279,647) $ (237,806)

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include approximately $546,818,000 and $478,394,000 of net actuarial
loss as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense in fiscal year 2021 for net actuarial losses is $12,752,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was approximately
$1,209,282 and $1,135,770,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30,
2020 and 2019:

2020 2019

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation

3.00% - 3.10%

N/A

4.20%-4.50%

N/A

34



DocuSign Envelope ID; 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAFOB

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

The primary investment objective for the Plan's assets is to support the Pension liabilities of the
Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation and
by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the impact fluctuating
interest rates have on the value of the Plan's liabilities. As of both June 30, 2020 and 2019, it is
expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 60% of the interest rate risk associated
with pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the Plans utilize a
diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated performance objectives measured
on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows;

Range of
Target Target

Allocations Allocations

0-5% 3%

0-10 5

20-58 40

6-26 7

5-35 18

5-15 11

3-13 5

0-5 1

0-5 0

5-18 10

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging market equities

Real estate investment trust funds

Private equity funds

Hedge funds

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans' assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities and authorities and more specifically the
following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges.

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
Plans own interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and, therefore, are
generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underlying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.
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The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans' investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:

2020

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments $ S  7,154 $ $  7,154 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 49,843 - 49,843 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 133,794 318,259 - 452,053 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities . 69,076 - 69,076 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 152.688 24,947 - 177,635 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 13.555 70,337 -
83,892 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 39,984 -
39,984 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds . 2,448 - 2,448 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 17 17 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds - -
47,351 47,351 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 349,880 $ 532,205 $  47,368 $ 929,453

2019

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments S  166 $  18,232 $ $  18,398 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 48.580 - - 48,580 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 122,178 273,424 - 395,602 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 428 75,146 - 75,574 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 159,259 18,316 •  - 177,575 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 17,232 77,146 - 94,378 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 321 39,902 -
40,223 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 357 2,883 - 3,240 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds . - 21 21 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds -
-

44,126 44,126 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments S 348,521 $ 505,049 $  44,147 $ 897,717

The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year
Net unrealized gains (losses)

Balances at end of year

Hedge Funds

;  44,126

3,225

Private

Equity Funds

$  21

(4)

Total

44,147

3,221

47,351 $ 17 $ 47,368
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2019

Private

(in thousands ofdoilarsj Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  44,250 $  23 $ '44,273

Net unrealized losses (124) (2) (126)

Balances at end of year $  44,126 $  21 $ 44,147

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $18,261,000 and $14,617,000,
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System's Plans at June 30, 2020 and 2019
by asset category is as follows:

2020 2019

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging market equities
Hedge funds

1 % 2 %

5 5

49 44

8 9

19 20

9 11

4 4

5 5

100 % 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $25,755,000 to the Plans in 2021
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2021 $ 51,007

2022 53,365

2023 55,466
2024 57,470

2025 59,436
2026-2028 321,419

Effective May 1, 2020, the Health System terminated a defined benefit plan and settled the
accumulated benefit obligation of $18,795,000 by purchasing nonparticipating annuity contracts.
The plan assets at fair value were $11,836,000.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401(a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on
specified percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer
contributions to the plan of approximately $51,222,000 and $40,537,000 in 2020 and 2019,
respectively, are included in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans in 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Postretirement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of its active
and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance benefits
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Service cost $ 609 $ 384

Interest cost 1,666 1,842

Net prior service income (5,974) (5,974)
Net loss amortization 469 10

$  (3,230) $ (3.738)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30. 2020
and 2019;

(in thousands of dollars)

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Benefits paid

Actuarial loss

Benefit obligation at end of year

Funded status of the plans

Current portion of liability for postretirement

medical and life benefits

Long term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits

2020 2019

$ 46,671 $ 42,581

609 384

1,666 1,842

(3.422) (3.149)

2,554 5,013

48,078 46,671

$ (48,078) $ (46.671)

$ (3.422) $ (3,422)

(44,656) (43,249)

$ (48,078) $ (46,671)

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the liability for postretirement medical-and life benefits is included in
the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars)

Net prior service income
Net actuarial loss

2020

(3,582)

10,335

6,753 $

2019

(9.556)

8.386

(1.170)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net
periodic postretirement income in fiscal year 2021 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.
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The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30, 2021 and thereafter;

(in thousands of dollars)

2021 $ 3,422
2022 3,436
2023 3.622
2024 3,642
2025 3,522
2026-2028 16.268

In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 2.90% in 2020 and an assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.50%, trending down to 5.00% in 2024 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 by $1,772,000 and $1,601,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $122,000 and
$77,000, respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage
point in each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of
June 30, 2020 and 2019 by $1,603,000 and $1,452,000 and the net periodic postretirement
medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $108,000 and $71,000, respectively.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, along with Dartmouth College,
Cheshire Medical Center, The New London Hospital Association, Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center, and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VT and NH are provided professional and general
liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
(RRG), a VT captive insurance company. Effective November 1, 2018 Alice Peck Day Memorial
Hospital is provided professional and general liability insurance coverage through RRG. RRG
reinsures the majority of this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive
insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, and Dartmouth College have ownership
interests in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to the covered
institutions and named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage is
triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially
determined based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for
outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at
June 30, 2020 and 2019, are summarized as follows;

2020

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 93,686 $ 1.785 $ 95.471
Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670

2019

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 75,867 $ 2,201 $ 78.068
Shareholders'equity 13.620 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Lines of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements with financial institutions establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $10,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 31, 2021. There was no outstanding balance under the lines of credit as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. Interest expense was approximately $20,000 and $95,000, respectively, and is
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2020;

2020

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total

Operating expenses
Salaries $  981,320 $ 161,704 $  1,799 $ 1,144,823

Employee benefits 231,361 41,116 395 272,872

Medical supplies and medications 454,143 1,238 - 455,381

Purchased services and other 236,103 120,563 3,830 360,496

Medicaid enhancement tax 76,010 - - 76,010

Depreciation and amortization 26,110 65,949 105 92,164

Interest 5,918 21,392 12 27,322

Total operating expenses $ 2,010,965 $ 411,962 $  6,141 $ 2,429,068

Program Management

Services and General Fundraising Total

Non-operating income
Employee benefits $  ■ 9,239 $ 1,549 $  22 $  10,810

Total non-operating income $  9,239 $ 1,549

CM
CM

V*

$  10,810

Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2019:

2019

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total

Operating expenses
Salaries $  922,902 $ 138,123 $ 1,526 $ 1,062,551

Employee benefits 188,634 73,845 333 262.812

Medical supplies and medications 406,782 1,093 - 407,875

Purchased services and other 212,209 108,783 2,443 323,435

Medicaid enhancement tax 70,061 - - 70,061

Depreciation and amortization 37,528 50,785 101 88,414

Interest 3,360 22,135 19 25,514

Total operating expenses $ 1,841,476 $ 394,764 $ 4,422 $ 2,240,662

Program Management

Services and General Fundraising Total

Non-operating income
Employee benefits $  9,651 S 1,556 $ 14 $ 11,221

Total non-operating income $  9,651 1,556 $ 14 $ 11,221
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15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2020 and 2019 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2020 and 2019, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable

Assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Total financial assets

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies
Investments for restricted activities

Bond proceeds held for capital projects
Other investments with liquidity horizons

greater than one year

Total financial assets available within one year

2020

453.223

183,819

1,134,528

140,580

2019

143,587

221,125

876.249

134,119

1,912,148 $ 1,375,080

54,596

140,580

245,484

111,408

66,082

134,119

97,063

$ 1,360,080 $ 1,077,816

For the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, the Health System generated positive cash
flow from operations of approximately $269,144,000 and $161,145,000, respectively. In addition,
the Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate
or long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 {Topic 842) "Leases." Topic 842 supersedes the
lease requirements in Accounting Standards Codification Topic 840, "Leases." Under Topic 842,
lessees are required to recognize assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases and
provide enhanced disclosures. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating. D-HH
adopted Topic 842 effective July 1, 2019.

D-HH applied Topic 842 to all leases as of July 1, 2019 with comparative periods continuing to be
reported under Topic 840. We have elected the practical expedient package to not reassess at
adoption (i) expired or existing contracts for whether they are or contain a lease, (ii) the lease
classification of any existing leases or (iii) initial direct costs for existing leases. We have also
elected the policy exemption that allows lessees to choose to not separate lease and non-lease
components by class of underlying asset and are applying this expedient to all relevant asset
classes.

43



DocuSign Envelope ID: 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAFOB

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
June 30. 2020 and 2019

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right>of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. We use the implicit rate noted within the contract. If not readily
available, we use our estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is derived using a collaterallzed
borrowing rate for the same currency and term as the associated lease. A right-of-use asset and
lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less and we recognize
lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term within lease and rental
expense.

Our operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Our
real estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 5 to 10 years. These real estate leases
may include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to
5 years. The exercise of (ease renewal options is at our sole discretion. When determining the
lease term, we included options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that
we will exercise that option.

On adoption, the Health System recognized lease liabilities and right-of-use assets of $60,269,884,
respectively.

The components of tease expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) "12 months ended
June 30. 2020

Operating lease cost 8,992
Variable and short term lease cost (a) 1 .^97
Total lease and rental expense

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease 2,454
Interest on debt of property under finance lease 524

Total finance lease cost 2,978

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.
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Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases 8,755
Operating cash flows from finance leases 542
Financing cash flows from finance leases 2,429

$  11,726

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Operating Leases

Right of use assets - operating leases 42,621
Accumulated amortization (8.425)

Right of use assets - operating leases, net

Current portion of right of use obligations 9,194
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion 25,308
Total operating lease liabilities

Finance Leases

Right of use assets - finance leases 26,076
Accumulated depreciation (2,687)

Right of use assets - finance leases, net ^^^^^^23^38^

Current portion of right of use obligations 2,581
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion 21,148
Total finance lease liabilities

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases 4.64
Finance leases 19.39

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases 2.24%
Finance leases 2.22%

Included in the $42.6 million of right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease
obligations is $5,6 million of new and modified operating leases entered into during the year ended
June 30, 2020. Included in the $26.1 million of right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for finance
lease obligations is $2.3 million of new and modified operating leases entered into during the year
ended June 30, 2020.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:
2021 9,852 3,314

2022 8,274 3,003

2023 .  6,836 2,718

2024 5,650 1,892

2025 3,023 1,109

Thereafter 2.794 17,339

Total lease payments 36,429 29,374

Less; Imputed interest 1,927 5,645

Total lease payments S  34.502 $ 23.729

Future minimum rental payments under lease commitments with a term of more than one year as
of June 30, 2019, prior to our adoption of ASC 842 are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars) Capital Leases Operating Leases

Year ending June 30:
2020 1.706 11,342
2021 1,467 10,469
2022 1,471 7,488
2023 1.494 6,303
2024 1.230 4,127
Thereafter 10,158 5,752
Total lease payments ^^^^^^_45j48^

The Health System's rental expense totaled approximately $12,707,000 for the year ended June
30,2019.

17. COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic and
the United States federal government declared COVID-19 a national emergency. The Health
System quickly developed and implemented an emergency response to the situation to ensure the
safety of its patients and staff across the System. A key decision was made to postpone elective
and non-urgent care in mid-March. Several factors drove that decision, including efforts to reduce
the spread of COVID-19; conservation of personal protective equipment ("PPE"), which was and
remains in critically short supply worldwide: and at the urging of the CDC and U.S. Surgeon
General who in March urged all hospitals to reduce the number of elective procedures and visits.

On March 27, 2020, the President of the United States signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act {"CARES Act") to provide economic assistance to a wide array of
industries to ease the financial impact of COVID-19. As part of the CARES Act, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") expanded its Accelerated and Advance Payment
Program which allows participants to receive expedited payments during periods of national
emergencies.
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As of June 30, 2020, the Health System has received approximately $88,877,000 in governmental
assistance including funding under the CARES Act. This includes recognition of approximately
$88,725,000 of stimulus revenue recorded as a component of other operating revenue in the
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as a result of satisfying the
conditions of general and targeted grant funding under the Provider Relief Fund established by the
CARES Act. The Health System recognized revenue related to the CARES Act provider relief
funding based on information contained in laws and regulations, as well as interpretations issued
by the HHS, governing the funding that was publicly available as of June 30, 2020. The Health
System recorded approximately $239,500,000 attributable to the Medicare Accelerated and
Advance Payment Program representing worthing capital financing to be repaid through the
provision of future services. These funds are recorded as a contract liability as a payment received
before performing services. This amount is reported as a component of estimated third party
settlements in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2020, Subsequent to June 30, 2020,
the Health System received additional stimulus funding attributable to a targeted distribution of
approximately $19,700,000 for Safety Net Hospitals and $2,500,000 for a general distribution.

Additionally, the CARES Act provides for payroll tax relief, including employee retention tax credits
and the deferral of all employer Social Security tax payments to help employers in the face of
economic hardship related to the COVID-19 pandemic. As of June 30, 2020, the Health System
deferred approximately $13,727,000 attributable to the employer portion of Social Security taxes
and $2,600,000 of employee retention tax credits. D-HH Leadership has also taken advantage of
additional Federal and State programs including the Payroll Tax Deferral, Employee Retention
Credit, First Responder Support, Front-Line Employees Hazard Pay Grant Program and FEMA
funding to help offset some of the'incremental costs being incurred to provide comprehensive and
safe care during the pandemic.

18. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2020,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

1. HHS Reporting Requirements for the CARES Act

In September 2020 and October 2020, HHS issued new reporting requirements for the CARES Act
provider relief funding. The new requirements first require Hospitals to identify healthcare-related
expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that remain unreimbursed by another source. If
those expenses do not exceed the provider relief funding received. Hospitals will need to
demonstrate that the remaining provider relief funds were used to compensate for a negative
variance in year over year patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief
Funding in excess of the sum of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that remain
unreimbursed by another source and the decline in calendar year over year patient care revenue.
Due to these new reporting requirements there is at least a reasonable possibility that amounts
recorded under the CARES Act provider relief fund by the Health System may change in future
periods.
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2. Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") expanded Accelerated and Advance Payment
Program

In October 2020, new regulations were issued to revise the recoupment start date from August
2020 to April 2021.

3. Note Payable Amendment

In October 2020, the note payable issued to TD Bank in May 2020 was amended. Under the
amended terms, the interest on the note payable is fixed at a rate of 2.56%, and matures in 2035.
Repayment terms are semi-annual, interest only through July 2024, with annual principal payments
to begin August 2024. The obligation can be satisfied at any time beforehand, without penalty.
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(in thousands ot dolars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash arxl cash equivalerss
Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use

Notes receivable, related party
Other investmerrts for restrfctad activities
Property, plant, artd equipttent. net
RigN of use assets

Other assets

Total assets

UablMties and Net Assets

Cunent itabUiiies

Current portion of kxtg-term debt
Current portion of right of use obligations
Current portion of liability lor pension and
other posiretirement plw benefits
Accounts payable artd accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related bertefits
Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Rigfv of use obligations, excluding current portion
Insurarrce deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postreiirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion
Other liabiltties

Total liaNities

Commitments artd conlingerKies

Net assets

Net assets without dortor restrictions

Net assets with donor restriciions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and r>ei assets

272.7W

3.468

126.283

122.392

39.845
7.732

3.087
3.570

4.250

3.875

3.406

3.582

(318.391)
3.468

131.244

141.151

301.326

(1.985)
1.840

1.199

Cheshire Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Oartmouth- Medical D»y Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System

Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Center 0}mlnatlons Subtotal Afniiates Eliminations Consolidated

5 108.856 $ 217.352 5 43.940 5 26,079 $  22.874 5  14,377 S S  433.478 S  19.745 S S 453.223

146.886 11.413 8.634 10.200 4,367 . 181.500 Z319 •

179.432 37.538 3.608 6.105 1,715 (82.822) 171.019 (8.870) (243) 161.906

134.099 543.670 92.891 36.521 39.179 20.459 (82.822) 785.997 13.194 (243) 768.948

344.737 927.207 19.376 13.044 12.768 12.090 (235.568) 1.093.654 40.872 -
1,134,526

648.250 593 . 1,211 . . (846.643) 1.211 (1.211) • -

98.490 6,970 97 3.077 6.266 . 114.900 25.680 •
140.580

8 466.938 64,803 20.805 43.612 16.823 • 612.989 30,597 •
643,586

1.542 32.714 1,822 17.574 621 3.221
-

57,494 91
•

2.242 122.481 1.299 14.748 5.482 4.603 (10.971) 139.884 (2.546)
-

137,338

% 1.330.878 5 2.192.093 S 187.161 S 106.000 5  104.739 S  63,462 S (1.178.204) i  2.806.129 5  106.677 $  (243) s 2.012.563

% 5 7,380 s 865 $ 747 S  147 $  232 s $  9.371 5  96 S $ 9.467

338 8.752 420 1.316 259 .631
-

11,716 59
•

(243)
3.468

129.016

142.991

302.525

273.102 478.419 83.526 34.141 33.196 14.281 (316.391) 598.276 1.209 (243) 599.242

. 814.525 . . 27.718 6.600 (848.843) - - - •

1.050.694 37.373 23.617 24.312 147 10.596 (10.970) 1.135.768 2.762
-

1.138.530

1.203 24.290 1.432 16.429 368 2.696 • 46.420 36
-

75.697 475 325 388 220
•

77.105 41
-

77.146

301,907 21.840 . . 511 . 324.258 (1) - 324.257

. 117.631 1.506 384 2.026 - - 121.547 22.131 -
143.678

1.324.999 1.849.642 132.396 75.591 63.845 34.905 (1.178.204) 2.303.374 28.178 (243) 2.329.309

5.524 242.824 47.729 29.464 36.158 21.247 362.946 48.040 40 431.026

355 99.427 7.036 945 4.736 7.310 -
119.809 32.459 (40) 152.228

5.879 342.251 54.765 30.409 40.894 28.557 . 502.755 80.499 -

583.254

S  1.330.878 $ 2.192.093 S 187.181 $ 106.000 5 104.739 5 63.462 S (1.178.204) $ 2.806.129 $ 106.677 S (243) S 2.912,563
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D-HH Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APO and VNH and System
(in thousands of doBars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations - Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 108.856 $ 218.295 S 47,642 S .  22.874 S 14.568 S 34,072 $ 6,916 $ . S 453.223

Patient accounts receivatiie, net . 146.887 11.413 10.200 4.439 8,634 2.246 . 183.819

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25.243 180.137 27.607 6.105 1.737 2.986 1,156 (83.065) 161.906

Total current assets 134.099 545.319 86,662 39.179 20.744 45,692 10,318 (83.065) 798.948

Assets limited as to use 344.737 946.938 18,001 12.768 13.240 13,044 21,366 (235.568) 1,134.526

Notes receivable, related party 848.250 593 - - - - - (848.843) -

Other Investments for restricted activities - 105.869 25.272 3.077 6.265 97 . - 140.580

Property, plant, and equipment, net 8 469.613 68.374 43.612 18.432 40.126 3.421 - 643.586

Right of use assets 1.542 32.714 1.822 621 3.220 17.574 92
-

57.585

Other assets 2.242 122.647 7,429 5.482 2.152 8,199 158 (10.971) 137.338

Total assets $ 1,330.878 $ 2,223.693 $ 207,560 s 104,739 $ 64.053 $ 124,732 S 35,355 S (1.178,447) 8 2.912.563

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt s . S 7,380 s 865 $ 147 $ 257 s 747 $ 71 S - $ 9.467

Current portion of right of use obligations 338 8.752 420 259 631 1,316 59 . 11.775

Current portion of liability for pension and

other postretirement plan benefits
- 3.468 - - - - - - 3.468

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 272.762 126.684 35.117 4,251 3,517 3,528 1,791 (316,634) 129.016

Accrued compensation and related t>enefits - 122.392 7.732 3,875 3,626 3,883 1.483 - 142.991

Estimated third-party settlements . 210.143 34.664 24,667 6,430 25,421 1.200 . 302.525

Total current liaMitles 273.100 478.819 78.798 33.199 14,461 34,895 4.604 (318.634) 599.242

Notes payable, related party - 814.525 . 27,718 6.600 - - (848.843) -

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1.050.694 37.373 23,618 147 10,867 24,312 2,489 (10,970) 1.138.530

Right of use obligations, excluding current portion 1.203 24.290 1.433 368 2,700 16.429 33 . 46,456

Insurance deposits and related liabilities • 75.697 475 388 222 325 39 . 77.146

Liability for pension ar>d other postretirement

plan benefits, excluding current portion - 301.907 21.840 - 510 . . . 324.257

Other liabilities . 117.631 1.506 2,026 - 22.515 . . 143,678

Total llatxiltles 1.324,997 1,850,242 127.670 63,846 35.360 98,476 7.165 (1.178,447) 2.329,309

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without dortor restriction 5.526 266,327 48.549 36,158 21.385 24.881 28.160 40 431,026

Net assets with donor restrictions 355 107,124 31.341 4,735 7.308 1.375 30 (40) 152,228

Total net assets 5,881 373.451 79.890 40,893 28,693 26,256 28.190 583,254

Total liabiiities and net assets s 1.330,878 s 2.223,693 s 207.560 $ 104,739 $ 64,053 $ 124.732 $ 35.355 s (1,178,447) $ 2.912.563
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(tn ihoostnda ofdoOmn)

Assvts

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pattern accounts recelvcbla. net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets Hmlied as lo use

Notes receivable, relaied party

Other investments for restricted acUvides

Property, plant, artd equipment, net
Right of use assets

Other assets

Total assets

LlabltHles and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion ol tortg-term debt
Current portion of right of use obllgstiorts
Current portion of Habitty for pension artd

other posireiirement plan benefits
Aecourus payable artd accrued expenses
Accrued compensation arid related berteflts
Estimated ihlrd^iarty setUemerits

Total current NstMllties

Notes payable, related party

Long-term debt, exdudlrig current portion
Right of use obligstions, excluding current portion
Insurance deposits end releted NabilllJes
Uabdity for pension and eUiar pestretiremeni
plan beneflts, excfudlrtg current portion
Other liabCities

Total KabiliiJes

Commitments arid contkigericies

Net assets

Net assets vitthout donor restrictioris

Net assets vrith donor restrtebons

Total net assets

Total NabHlties and riet assets

44,820

50.780

286,427

24.503

440

35,604

5t3

11.485

240

4,320

(I0.S70) 74«.322

58.387

281,000

100,018

2,858

40

Cheahira AJlee Pack New Leriden Mt. Aaeutnay OH ObUgated All Other Non- Health

HKcheoek Dartmouth- Medical Day Hqapltsi Hes|>ital arid Oreup OMIg Oreup System

Health Hitehcoch Ceritar Mamortsl Aaseclatien Health Center Ellmlnatlena Subtotal Afflllatea Eliminations Consolidated

42.458 S 47,465 S 0.411 $ 7.066 S  10,462 t  8.372 S t  125.232 S  18.355 t
. S  143.567

. 15.880 7.270 8,060 5.010 . 216.067 3.058 221.125

14,178 130.034 8,563 2.401 5,567 1.423 (74.083) 07.083 1,421 (3.009) 95.405

58,834 367.437 33,854 16.740 24.080 14.805 (74,083) 440.382 22.834 (3.000) 460.207

02.802 688.485 18,750 12.684 12.427 11.619 . 836.576 30,873 876.249

553.484 752 1.406 .
. (554,238) 1.406 (1.406) •

. 01.882 6,070 31 2.073 8,323 - 108,170 25.040

22 432.277 67,147 30.045 41.946 17,707
•

590,134 31.122 621,256

3,518 108,208 1.270 15,010 6,042 4,388 (10,070) 127,484 (3.013) 124.471

s 706,280 s 1,680.041 S 128.000 5 76.631 5  88,377 5  54.032 5 (830,280) $  2,104.181 5  115,150 S (3,000) S  2.216,302

t . s 8,226 s 830 S 054 5  547 S  262 S t  10,819 S  OS s
-

5  10,014

3.468 3.488
•

3.468

90.884 15,820 6.200 3.878 2,778 (74.083) 100,873 6.053 (3.009) 113,817

110.830 5.851 3.694 2.313 4,270 - 128,787 1.641
-

128.408

26,405 103 1,200 10,851 2,021 - 41,570 -

55,400 248,622 22,404 12,237 17.580 10,220 (74,083) 202.407 6.689 (3.000) 208,177

. 526,202 . - 28,034 - (554.236) • • -

752.180

58,407

281.000

124,138

1.241.058 58.713 48.382 48.230 28.254 (639 289) 1.482.113 34.805 (3,000) 1 513 000

356,880 63.051 27.853 35,518 21.242 511,830 48.063 40 559.033

18 01.103 6.245 706 4,820 7.436 . 110.218 32.282 (40) 142.460

447,083 60.206 28.440 40.138 28,678 . 622.048 80.345 - 702.303

5  706.260 S 1,880.041 S 128.<X>0 S 76.831 S 88,377 S 54.032 S (830.280) S 2,104.181 S ns.iso S (3.000) S 2.216.302
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2019

D-HH Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System

(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash arxJ cash equivalents $ 42.4S6 $ 48.052 % 11.952 S 11.120 8 8.549 8 15.772 8 5.686 8 - 8 143.587

Patient accounts receivable, net . 180.938 15.880 8.960 5.060 7.280 3.007 - 221.125

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14.178 139,832 9.460 5,567 1.401 1.678 471 (77.092) 95.495

Total cun-ent assets 56.634 368,822 37,292 25,647 15,010 24.730 9.164 (77.092) 460.207

Assets limited as to use 92.602 707.597 17,383 12.427 12,738 12.685 20.817 - 876.249

Notes receivable, related party 553.484 752 - - . -■ - (554.236) -

Other Investments for restricted activities - 99.807 24.985 2.973 6,323 31 -
- 134.119

Property, plant. ar>d equipment, net 22 434.953 70.846 42.423 19.435 50,338 3.239
-

621.256
Right of use assets • -

- -
- - - -

-

Other assets 3,518 108.366 7.388 5.476 1.931 8,688 74 (10.970) 124,471

Total assets $ 706.260 S 1.720.297 S 157.894 s 88.946 8 55.437 8 96.472 8 33.294 8 (642.298) 8 2.216.302

Liablinies and Net Assets
Current liabilities

Current portion of lor^g-lefm debt $ - 5 8,226 $ 830 % 547 8 288 8 954 8 69 8 - 8 10.914

Current portion of right of use otriigations . -
- - • • - - •

Current portion of liatMlity for pension and
other postretlrement plan benefits - 3.468 - - - • -

-
3.466

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 55.499 100.441 19.356 3,879 2,856 6.704 2.174 (77,092) 113.817
Accrued compensation and related t>enefits - 110.639 5,851 2,313 4,314 4.192 1.099 -

128.408
Estimated third^arty settlements - 26,405 103 10,851 2,921 1.290 -

- 41.570

Total current liabilities 55.499 249.179 26,140 17.590 10.379 13,140 3.342 (77.092) 298.177

Notes payable, related party - 526.202 - 28.034 . - - (554.236) •

Long-term debt, exdudirtg current portion 643.257 44.820 24.503 643 11,763 35,604 2.560 (10.970) 752.180
Right of use c^lgations. excludirtg current portion • - - -

- • -
-

-

Iruurance deposits and related liabilities - 56.786 440 388 240 513 40 • 58.407
Liability for pension arxf other postretirement
plan t>er>efits. exdudirtg current portion • 266.427 10.262 - 4.320 - -

-
281.009

Other natalities . 98.201 1.115 1.585 - 23,235 -
- 124,136

Total liat>ilities 698.756 1.241,615 62.460 48,240 26.702 72.492 5.942 (642.298) 1,513,909

Commitments and contir>gencies

Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions 7,486 379.498 65.873 36.087 21.300 22.327 27.322 40 559.933

Net assets with donor restrictions 16 99,184 29.561 4.619 7.435 1.653 30 (40) 142.460

Total net assets 7.504 478.682 95.434 40.706 28.735 23.980 27.352 702.393

Total liabilities and rtet assets $ 706.260 $ 1,720.297 8 157.894 8 88.946 8 55.437 8 96.472 8 33.294 8 (642.298) 8 2.216.302
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2020

(in Ihousantis oldolan)

Operating reventM and Mher aupport

Patient sarnot revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operatjng revenue
Net aesets released fiem restrictions

Total operatirtg revenue end other support

Operatlrtg expenses
Salaries

Employee bertefits
Medicetiorts and medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

Depreciation attd amortizalion
Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) margin

Kon-operatir>g gains (losses)
Investment income (tosses), net
Other comportents of rtel periodic pettsion and post
retiremeni benefit irtcome

Other (tosses) Income, net

Total rwrvoperaling gairts (losses), net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expertses

Net assets wtthout donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in furtded status of pension and other
postreliremenl benefits
Net assets transferred to (from) affSates

Other ehartges in net assets

Increase in net assets without donor restrictiorts

Dartmoutlv

Hitchcock

HeaKh

5.369

26.349

409

32.127

4.375

Dartmouth-

Hitchcock

1.490.516

114.906

321.026

13.013

1.939.463

(56.513)
(7.269)

Clwshire

Medksl

Center

207,416

400

16,406

1.315

225,537

Alice Peck

Day
Memorial

65.496

New London

Hospital

Association

53.943

7,179

162

10

10.165

160

ML Ascutney
Hospital and
Health Center

41.349

7,427

7.847

84

DH Obligated
Croup

Sutitotal

1.858.720

(54.543)
(26.972)

73.569

360.022

15.143

72.837 64.298 56,707 (83.515) 2.307.454

Another Non-

Obllg Croup
Amtlates

21,305

(13.321)
(32) 1.911

(7.168)
15

1.387

(79.022)
(781)

498

15,128

1.117

38.046

Health

System
ConsoDdeted

1.680.025

(39)
(528)

JSgTi

(1.962) 5 (114,056) t (15.322) 5 1.811 S (128,884) $

27

781

(2-316) _

(23) . S

74.028

374.622

18.260

2.344.935

. 947.275 115.777 37.596 33.073 27.600 (34.706) 1.126.615 17.007 1.201 1.144,823

. 227.138 26,979 6.214 6.741 6,344 (4.864) 268.552 4.009 311 272,872

. 401.185 36.313 8.390 5.140 2.944 . 453,952 1.429 • 455,381

13.615 284.714 31.864 11.639 14.311 13.351 (20.942) 348,552 13.943 (1.999) 360,496

• 59.706 8.476 3.226 2.853 1.747 . 76,010 - • 76,010

14 71,108 9.351 3.361 3.601 2.475 - 89.910 2.254
-

92.164

25.780 23.431 953 906 1,097 252 (25,412) 27,007 315 - 27.322

39.409 2.014.539 229.713 71.332 66.816 54.713 (85.924) 2.390.598 38.957 (487) 2.429.066

(7.282) (75,076) (4.176) 1.505

1

1.994 2.409 (83.144) (909) (80) (84.133)

4.877 18.522 714 292 359 433 (198) 24.999 2.048 27.047

8.793 1.663 . . 134 . 10.810 . . 10.810

(3,932) (1.077) (569) (205) 544 4,317 (2.211) (3.133) 346 80 (2,707)

945 28.238 2.028 87 903 4,684 (2.409) 32.676 2.394 80 35,150

(8.337) (46.638) (2,148) 1,592 (1.815) 6,878 (50.468) 1,485 • (46,983)

1,414

(79,022)

(2.318)

(128.907)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue end other support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medicald enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) margin

Non-operating gains (losses)

Investment Income (losses), net

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Total norvoperating gains (losses), net

(Defeiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions (or capital
Change In funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates
Other changes In net assets

Increase In net assets without donor restrictions

D-HH

and Other

Subsidiaries

5,369

26.349

409

D-H and

Subsidiaries

Cheshire and

SutKldiaries

NLHand

Subsidiaries

MAHHC and

Subsidiaries

APO and

Subsidiaries

VNH and

Subsidiaries

32,127

1,490,516 S

115.403

323.151

13.660

1,942,730

207.416 S

400

16,472

1.335

53.943 S

10

10,185

160

225.623 64.298

41.348

7.427

9,482

83_

58.340

65,496 S

16.726

613

82,835 23,063

Eliminations

21.306 $

1.757

. 947.275 115,809 33,073 28.477 41.085 12,608

. 227.138 26,988 6,741 6,517 7.123 2.918

401.165 36,313 5,140 2,941 8.401 1,421

13,615 287,948 32.099 14,311 13,767 14,589 7.108

_ 59,708 8.476 2.853 1.747 3,226
-

14 71,109 9.480 3.601 2.596 5,004 360

25.780 23.431 953 1.097 252 1.159 62

39.409 2.017.774 230,118 66,816 56,297 80.587 24,477

(7,282) (75.044) (4,495) (2,518) 2,043 2,248 (1,414)

4.877 19.361 1.305 359 463 292 588

. 8.793 1,883 . 134 - •

(3,932) (1.077) (569) (25) 4,318 (205) 914

945 27,077 2.619 334 4.915 87 1.502

(6,337) (47,967) (1.876) (2.184) 6.958 2,335 88

•
591 179 344 300

- -

. (58,513) (13.321) . (7.188) - -

4.377 (7.282) 10 1.911 15 219 750

. . (2.316) - • • -

S  (1.960) S (113.171) $ (17.324) $ 71 $ 85 S 2.554 S 838

(54.581)

(29.500)

(84,081)

(33.504)

(4.553)

(22,941)

(25.412)

(86.410)

2,329

(198)

(2,131)

Health

System
Consolidated

1.880.025

74,028

374.622

16.260

2.344,935

1,144.823

272.872

455.381

360.496

76,010

92,164

27,322

2.429.068

(84.133)

27,047

10.810

(2.707)

35,150

(48,983)

1.414

(79,022),

(2.316)

(128.907)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Dartmouth- ChesMre Alke Peck New London MLAscutney DH Obfigated Afl Other Norv Health

Hitchcock Oirtmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group ObBg Group System

(m thousands o( dotars) Health Hltchcock Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Sutitotal AffiBates Elintinatlons Consoldated

Opentlng revenu* ind other support
$  1,999,323Patieflt service revenue $ S  1,580,552 S  220,255 $  69,794 S  60,166 $  46,029 $ S  1,976,796 5  22,527 $ •

Contracted revenue 5.011 109,051 355 . - 5,902 (46,100) 74,219 790 8 75.017

Other operating revenue 21.128 166.852 •  3,407 1,748 4,261 2,289 (22,076) 197,609 13,386 (297) 210,698

Net assets released from restrictions 369 11,556 732 137 177 24 - 12,995 1,110 -
14,105

Total operating revenue and oOier support 26,508 1,888,011 224,749 71,679 64,604 54,244 (68,176) 2,261,619 37,813 (289) 2,299,143

Openting expenses
1,106 1,062,551Salaries - 868,311 107,671 37,297 30,549 26,514 (24,682) 1,045,660 15,785

Employee tjenefits . 217,623 25,983 6,454 5,434 7,152 (3,753) 258,883 3,642 287 262,812

Medications and medical supplies - 354,201 34,331 8,634 6,298 3,032 •
406,496 1,379

-

407,875

Purchased services and other 11,366 242,106 35,088 15,308 13,528 13,950 (21,176) 310,170 14,887 (1,622) 323,435

Medicaid enhancement tax 54.954 8,005 3,062 2,264 1,776 -
70,061 - •

70,061

Depreciation and amortization 14 69.343 7,977 2,305 3,915 2,360 •
85,914 2,500

•
88,414

Interest 20.677 21,585 1,053 1,169 1,119 228 (20,850) 24.981 533 •
25,514

Total operating expenses 32,057 1,828,123 220,108 74,229 63,107 55,012 (70,471) 2,202,165 38,726 (229) 2,240,662

Operating margin (loss) (5.549) 59,888 4,641 (2.550) 1,497 (768) 2,295 59,454 (913) (60) 58,481

Non^perating gains (losses)
40,052Investment income (losses), net 3,929 32,193 227 469 834 623 (198) 38,077 1,975

•

Other components of net petiorfic pension and post
11,221retiremavt tienefit income - 9,277 1,758 - - 166 11,221 •

Other (losses) income, net (3.784) 1,586 (187) 30 (240) 279 (2,097) (4,413) 791 60 (3,562)

1

1

1

. - (87) - • - (87) - (87)

Total non-operating gains (losses), net 145 43,056 1,798 412 594 1,088 (2.295) 44.798 2,766 60 47,624

(Defidency) excess of revenue over expenses (5.404) 102,944 6,439 (2,138) 2,091 320
-

104,252 1,853
-

106,105

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 419 565 • 402 318 -
1,704 65 1,769

Change in funded status of pension and other
postietirement Iwnefits (65,005) (7,720)

- -
662

-
(72,043)

- •
(72,043)

Net assets transfened to (from) afTibates 10,477 (16.360) 1,939 8,760 128 110 -
5,054 (5,054) • -

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions S  5.073 i  21,998 %  1,223 $  6,622 S  2,621 $  1.430 $ S  38,967 $  (3,136) S
•

$  35,831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

D-HH Health

and Other 0-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System

fin thousands of dolars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue S $  1,580,552 %  220,254 $  60,166 $  46,029 $ 69,794 $  22,528 $ $  1,999,323

Contracted revenue 5,010 109.842 355 . 5,902 - - (46,092) 75,017

Other operating revenue 21,128 188,775 3,549 4,260 3,868 10,951 540 (22,373) 210,698

Net assets released from restrictions 371 12,637 732 177 26 162 - • 14,105

Total operating revenue and other support 26,509 1,891,806 224,890 64,603 55,825 80,907 23,068 (68,465) 2,299,143

Operating expenses
1,062,551Salaries . 868,311 107,706 30,549 27,319 40,731 11,511 (23,576)

Employee t>enefits . 217,623 25,993 5,434 7,319 7,218 2,701 (3,476) 262,812

Medications and medical suppEes - 354.201 34,331 6,298 3,035 8,639 1,371
-

407,875

Purchased services and other 11.366 246.101 35,396 13,390 14,371 18,172 7,437 (22,798) 323,435

Mecficaid enhancement tax • 54,954 8,005 2,264 1,776 3,062 • -
70,061

Depreciation and amortization 14 69,343 8,125 3,920 2,478 4,194 340 •
88,414

Interest 20,678 21,585 1,054 1,119 228 1,637 63 (20,850) 25,514

Total operating expenses 32.058 1,832,118 220,610 62,974 56,526 83,653 23,423 (70,700) 2,240,662

Operating (loss) margin (5,549) 59,688 4,280 1,629 (701) (2,746) (355) 2,235 58,481

Non-operating gains (losses)

investment income (losses), net 3,929 33,310 129 785 645 469 983 (198) 40,052

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income - 9,277 1,758 - 186 - -

•
11,221

Other (losses) income, net (3.784) 1,586 (171) (240) 288 31 765 (2,037) (3,562)

Loss on earty extinguishment of debt . . - • - (87) - -
(87)

Total non-operating gains (losses), net 145 44.173 1,716 545 1,119 413 1,748 (2,235) 47,624

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (5,404) 103,861 5,996 2,174 418 (2,333) 1,393 -
106,105

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capttai -
484 565 402 318 • • -

1,769

Change in funded status of pension and otfrer
postredrement benefits • (65,005) (7,720) -

682 - • •
(72,043)

Net assets transferred to (from) affiates 10,477 (16,360) 1,963 128 118 3,629 45 - -

Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor
restrictions $  5,073 $  22,980 %  804 $  2,704 S  1.536 S 1,296 $  1.438 $ %  35,831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2020 and 2019

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions between D-
HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented is prepared
on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The

consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.'
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schftduls of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year ended June 30. 2020

Federal Program

Research and Developmeni Clustar

Oepartrrtent of Defense

National Guard Military Operatioru and Maintenance (O&M) Protects

Mitary Medical Research and Development

Mitary Medical Research and Developmeni

Miktary Medical Research and Development

Subtotal 12.420

Total Department of Defense

Environmental Protection Agency

Science To AcNeve Results (STAR) Research Program

Total Environmental Protection Agency

National Scierwe Foundation

Promotion of the Arts Grants to Organizations and Individuals

Total National Science Foundation

Department of Health and Human Services

Innovations in Apptad Public HeaiSi Research

Environmental Haalth

Environmental Health

Subtotal 93.113

NIEHS Supertund Hazardous Substances

Research Related to Deafness and Communication Orsorders

Research Related to Deafness and Commur^lion Disorders

Subtotal 93.173

National Research Service Award in Primary Care Medicine

Research and Trairting in Complementary and Integrative Health

Research and Training in Complementary and IntegratNe Health

Research and Training In Complementary and Integrative Health

Research and Training in Complementary and Integrative Health

Research and Training in Complementary and Integrative Health

Research and Training in Complememary ar>d Integrative Health

Subtotal 93.213

Research on HeaUhcare Costs, OuaSty and Outcomes

Research on Healthcare Costs. Quality and Outcomes

Research on Healthcare Costs. QuaSty and Outcomes

Research on Healthcare Costs. Oualty and ̂ Acomes

Research on Healthcare Costs, Quality and Outcomes

Subtotal 93.226

Mental HeaKh Research Grants

Mental Health Research Grants

Mental Health Research Grants

Mental Health Research Grants

Mental Heallh Rasearch Grants

Mental Heallh Research Grants

Mental HeaRh Research Grants

Mental Heallh Research Grants

Award numberfpass-through

identification number

W81XWH1820076

Furtdirtg source

Pass-through

entity

Total

expertdituras

1,198.830

Amount passed

to subrecipients

881,880

12.420 W81XWH1810712 Direct 50.351 19,178

12.420 W81XWH1610005 Direct 63,207
-

12.420 R1143 Pass-Through Trustees of Danmouth Colege 7.925
•

121,483 701,058

V  1,320.313 701,058

68.509 31220SUB52965 Pass-Through University of Vermont 9.880 -

9,880
•

47.083 R1253 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 11.153

11.153
•

93.081 1 R01 TS000288 Direct 518,100 177,439

93.113 6K23ES025781-06 Oiract 173,047 14,568

93.113 R1118 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 87,272

240.319 14.568

93.143 R1099 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartnwuth Colege 6.457
-

93.173 6R210C015133-03 Direct 102,685 93.814

93,173 R1294 Pass-Through Trustees of Dertmouth Colege 21,722
•

124,407 93,814

93.168 T32HP32520 Direct 237.176

93.213 R1112 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartntouth Colege 11,051
-

93.213 R1ie7 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 22.498
-

93.213 12274 Pass-Through Palmer Colege of Chiropractic 26.937
-

93.213 R1325 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 31,924

93,213 R1349 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 13,647

93.213 Pass-Through SouViem Cakfomia University of Heallh 67,464 38,411

173.521 38.411

93.226 5P30HS024403 Direct 716,547 108,034

93.226 R1128 Pass-Through Trustees of Danmouth Colege 9,489

93,226 R1146 Pass-Through Tnjstees of Dartmouth Cdega 22.992

93.226 R1110 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 10.125

93.226 41610.CM.21.0anmouth Pass-Through Nati Bureau of Economic Research 10.651
-

769,804 108.034

93.242 1X01MH117496431A1 Direct 115,387
•

93.242 1K08MH117347-01A1 Direct 128,134

93,242 6K23MH1ie367-02 Direct 161.441

93.242 6R01MH110965 Direct 271.768 112.983

93.242 6T32MH073S53-15 Direct 307.005 114.680

93.242 eR25MH0e8S02-17 Direct 20,506
•

93.242 eR01MH10762S-05 Direct 388,647 226.366

93,242 4500002925 Pass-Through Boston University 9,648

1 the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Avsrards .are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

CFOA Award numberfpass-through Pass-through Total Amount passed

Federal Program identification number Funding source entity expenditures to subreeipientt

Menial HeaRh Research Grants 93.242 R1082 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 30.525 •  '

Mental Health Research Grants 93.242 Rt144 Pass-Through Tnjstees ol Dartmouth Colege 15,445
-

Mental Heaiih Research Grants 93.242 R1156 PesvThrough Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 15.445
-

Sutttotai 93.242 1,464.151 454,029

Drug Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 8R01DA034699-OS Oirea 672,985 236,585

Drug Abuse artd Addiction Research Programs 93.279 6R01DA041418-04 Direct 244,261 139,969

Drug Abuse arvi Addiction Research Programs 93.279 8R21DA044501-03 Direct 157,431
-

Drug Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 19186 Pass-Through Baystate Medical Center. Inc 36,675

Drug Abuse and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 19-A0-S6-003671 Pass-Through New York University 23,295

Drug Alxise ar>d Addiction Research Programs 93.279 R1104 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 6.549
•

Drug Abuse artd Addiction Research Programs 93.279 R1105 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 46.332
-

Drug Alxjsa and Addiction Research Programs 93.279 Riig2 Pass-Through Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege 5.668
-

Subtotal 93.279
1,195,376 376,554

Discovery and Applied Research for Technological Innovations to

Improve Human Health 93.286 6K23EB026507-02 Direct 179,267 393

Discovery and Applied Research lor Tecivtological Irvtovations to

Improve Human Health 93,288 eR21EB021456^3 Direct 8,057
-

Discovery arxi Applied Research for Technological Innovations to

Improve Human Heatlh 93.286 7R21EB024771-03 Direct 187,960
-

Discovery and Appied Research for Teehrwtogical lrv>ovations to

Improve Human Heaifo 93.286 R1103 Pass-Through Tnrttees of Dartmouth Colege 35,703

Discovery and Appfed Research for Techrwlogical Innovations to

Improve Human Heallh 93.288 R1125 Pass-Through Trustees of Oartrrwuth Colege 12,002
-

Subtotal 93.288 422.989 393

Trans-NIK Research Support 93.310 R1122 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Cotege 38,308
-

Tran»-N1H Research Support 93.310 R1365 Pass-Through Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege 1,598

Subtotal 93.310 39,906

National Center for Advancmg Translaiional Sciences 93.350 R1113 Pass-Through Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege 376,147

2lstCentury Cures Act-Beau Biden CarKar Moonshot 93.353 1204501 Pass-Through Dana Farber Car>cer tnsbtuia 241.659
-

Cancer Cause artd Prevention Research 93.393 1R01CA225792 Direct 340,427 81.353

Cartcer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 R21CA227776A Direct 176,152 44,868

Cancer Cause end Prevention Research 93.393 1R21CA23087S.01A1 Direct 70,064 32.196

CatKer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 R1127 Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege 33,095
-

Cancar Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 R1189 Pass-Through Trustees of Oartrrtouth Colege 14,127
-

Cancer Cause end Prevention Research 93.393 R1109 Pass-Through Tnjstees of Dartmouth Colege 144

Cancer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 DKMCCA222846 Pass-Through The Penmytvania State Urwersity 29,215

CarKer Cause and Prevention Research 93.393 R44CA210810 Pass-Through Cairn Surgical, LLC 112,956

Subtotal 93.393 776,200 158,417

Cancer Detection and Diagnosis Research 93.394 4R00CA190690-03 Direa 230,110
-

Cancer Detection and Diagnosis Research 93.394 6R37CA212187-03 Direct 288.375 6,863

Cancer Detection and Diagnosis Research 93,394 6R03CA219445-03 Direct 44,321 20,230

Cancar Detection and Diagnosis Research 93.394 R1079 Pass-Through Tnjstees of Dartmouth Colege 25,795
-

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hltchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year ended June 30, 2020

Federal Program

CarKar Detection and Diagrtosis Research

Cancer Detection and Diagrwsts Research

Cartcer Detection and Diagnosis Research

Cancer Detection and Diagnosb Research

Subtotal 93.394

CFDA

93.394

93.394

93.394

93.394

Award numberfpass-through

identification number

R1080

R1086

R1096

R1124

Funding source

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-ttirough

entity

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege

Total

expenditures

27,250

15.437

2.113

264.698

898.099

Amount passed
to subrecipients

29.093

Cartcer Treatment Research

Cancer Treatment Research

Cartcer Treatment Research

Cancer Treatment Research

Cancer Treatment Research

Subtotal 93.395

Cancer Centers Support Grants

Cancer Centers Support Grants

Subtotal 93.397

Cardiovascubr Diseases Research

Cardiovascular Diseases Research

Subtotal 93.837

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.395

93.397

93.397

93.837

93.837

1UG1CA233323-01

DAC-194321

OAR-194321-05

R1087

120870

R1126

R1157

1UM1HL147371-01

7K23HL142835<I2

Direct

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Mayo Clinic

Mayo Ciirtic

Tmstees of DarVrtouth Colege

ertgham and Women's Hospital

Tnjslees of Dartnoulh Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

270.623

3.303

6.057

10,051

39,208

329.242

208.831

1.322

210,153

550,860

155.222

121.316

26.004

Lung Diseases Research

Blood Diseases artd Resources Research

Arlhribs, Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases Research

Arthritis, Musculoskeletal ar>d Skin Diseases Research

Arthritis, Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases Research

Subtotal 93.846

Diabetes. Digestive, and Kidney Diseases Extramural Research

Diabetes, Digestive, and Kidney Diseases Extramural Research

Diabetes, Digestive, and Kidney Diseases Extramural Research

Subtotal 93.847

Extramural Research Programs In the Neurosdertces

artd Neurological Disorders

Extramural Research Programs in the Neurosdences

and Neurological Disorders

Subtotal 93.853

Alergy artd Infectious Diseases Research

Biomadical Research and Research Tralrting

Biomadieal Research and Research Training

Biomadical Research artd Resaatch Training

Biomadicai Research and Research Trainirtg

Subtotal 93.859

Cftld Health artd Human Oevelopntent Extramural Research

Chid Health artd Human Oevelopmeftt Extramural Research

Chid Health artd Human Development Extramural Research

93.838

93.839

93.848

93.848

93.846

93.847

93.847

93.847

93.855

93.859

93.859

93.859

93.859

93.665

93.665

93.865

6R01HL122372-05

R1339

6T32AR04971CLie

1R01AR077157-01

R1342

R1098

3U010K104833-04S1

R1363

eR01NS0S2274-11

ie-21095CMM

R1081

R1100

R1141

R1145

R11S2

5P2CHD086a41-04

&UG100024946-03

6R01HD067270

Direct

Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Direct

Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege

Trustees of Dertmouth Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Medical Uivvarsity of South Carofna

Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Tnjstees of Dartmouth Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Trustees of Oartnwuth Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

190,872

977

151

63.854

3.007

67.012

233.586

33,915

4,727

272.226

11.668

16,125

7,631

2.292

21.015

19.835

19.747

62.889

104,658

852.853

1,211.026

13.389

1.001,208

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Av/ards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Schadula of Expendltur«t of Fedefd Awards

Year ended June 30. 2020

Federal Program

Chid Health and Human Development Extramural Peaesrth

Chid Heaim and Human Development Extramural Retearch

CFOA

93.665

93.665

Award numberfpess-through

identificailon number

R1119

51460

Funding source

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass4hreugh

entity

Trustees of DarVnouih Colege

Univ ol ArVenses tor MeAcal Sciences

Total

expersdituree

30.991

112.107

Amount passed

to sut>raeipiern

Sutrtotal 93.665 2,111,633 1,014,597

Aging Research

Aging Research

93.866

93.666

6K23AG05ie81-04

R1102

Direct

Pass-Through Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

133,947

30.290

1,620

Subtotal 93.666 164,237 1.620

Vision Research

Medical Ubrary AsslstarKe

Medical Ubrary Assistance

Medical Ubrary Assisiance

93.667

93.679

93.679

93.879

6R21EY028677-02

R1107

R1190

A0O-363O-SOO1

Direct

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Trustees ol OarbrMuih Colege

Trustees of Dartmouth Colege

Medical Universiiy of SouVt Cercina

166,981

16.893

95.193

14.647

107,019

Subtotal 93.979 126,733

kttemabonal Research and Researeh Training

Intemationai Research arxl Research Training

93.989

93.989

R1123

6R25TWD07e93-09

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Trustees ol Dartmouth Colege

Fogarty Intemationai Center

7.602

274.628 245,016

Subtotal 93.989 262.330 245.016

Total Department ol HeeBh and Human Services 12.199.230 3.699.569

Total Research and Development Cluster 13.540,562 3.699.569

Department of Health and Human Services

Medteeid Cluster

Medical Assistance Program

Medical Assistance Program

Medical Assistance Program

93.776

93.778

93.778

NMAvaiable

RFP-2017-0COM-01J>HYSM1

SNHH 2-18-19

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

NH Oepl of Health and Human Services

NH Depl of Health and Human Services

Southern New Hampstwe Health

4,272.073

714,879

40.729

-

Medical Assistance Program 93.778 0342(H>80S3 Pas>Through Vermont Department ol Hcalh 54.969

Medical Assistance Program
Medical Assistance Program

93.n6

93,776

03410-2020-19

03410-2085-20

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Vermont Agency of Human Services

Vermont Agertcy ol Human Serwces
41,745

126.628

Total Medicaid Cluster 5.251.223 .

Department of Transportation
HrglMey Safety Cluster

State arid Community Highviey Safety

Slate end Community Higfrnoy Safely

State and Community Highvuey Safety

20.600

20.600

20.600

19-266 Youth Operator

19-266 BUNH

19-266 SiateMide CPS

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pas^Through

NH Highwtcy Safety Agency

NH Highwivy Safely Agency

NH Highvi«y Safety Agency

36,094

37,570

54,042

-

Subtotal 20.600 129,706 .

Total HighiMy Safety Cluster 129,706 .

Other Sponsored Programs

Department of Justice

Crime Victim Assisiance

Crime Victim Assistartce

Crime Victim Assistance

Crime Victim Assistance

16.575

16.575

16.575

16,575

02-20-20-2000010-2601-073

2015.VA.GX0007

2018-V3-GX-4078

5021-072-500575

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Direct

Pass-Through

New Hampshire Department of Justice

NewHampshire DeparVnent of Justice

New Hampshire Oeparvnent of Justice

17,995

199.879

59,629

96.224

12.440

Subtotal 16.S7S 375.927 12.440

Total Oeparvneni ol Jusiica 375,927 12.440

Department of Labor

Disabtty Employment Policy Development 17.258 1947RTN01 PassThrough Vermont Department of l.abor 1.170.987

Total DeparVnent of Labor 1.170.987 .

Netlonel Endowment for the Humanities

Promotion of Ore Arts Grants to Organizatiorts end Individuels 45.024 1856102-36-19 Direct Vermorv Dept lor Children and FsmiKes 15,837

Total National Endovuhent for the Humanities 15.837 -

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Experxlilures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
ScKftduto of Expenditures of Federel Awards

Year ended June 30. 2020

Federal Program

Award numberfpass-through
Idendflcalion number FurwUttg source

Pass-dvough
entity

Total

axpertdlturas
Amount passed
to subracipients

Department of Health and Human Services

Blood Disorder Program: Prevention. Sutvelance. and Research
Maternal and ChU Health Federal Consolidated Prograrru

Maternal arrd Child Health Federal Cortsolidated Programs

Subtotal 93.110

Emergency Medical Services lor Chidren

Centers lor Researtfi and Demonstration for Healtn Promotion

and Disease Prevention

Iniury Prevention and Control Research and Stata and Commuraty
Based Programs

Coordlrtated Services end Access lo Research (or Womerv Infants, Chidren

Coordinated Services arrd Access lo Research for Women, kifants, Chidren

Coordlrtatad Services and Access to Research tor Women, Infants, Chidren

Subtotal 93,1^
Slate Rural Hospital Flexibility Program

Substance Abuse aixl Mental Health Services Projects of

Regional and National Significance

Substance Abuse and Mental HeaCh Services Profecis of

Regional and National Signifieance
Sutjstance Abuse and Mental Heath Services Projects of

Regional and National Significance

Substance Abuse and Mental HeaBi Services Projects of
Regiorul and National Significance

Subtotal 93,243

Drug Free Communttits Support Program Grants

Drug Free Communities Support Program Grants
Subtotal 93,276

University Centers tor Excelence in Developmental Disabilities

Education, Research, artd Service

Adoption Opportunilias

Adoption Opportunities

Subtotal 93.6S2

Urnersity Centers lor Exeelertce in Developmental DbabSties

Education. Research, atvl Service

Opioid STR

OpieMSTR

Opioid STR

Opioid STR

Subtotal 93.768

Organized Approaches to Increase Colorectal Cancer Saeening
Orgattized Approaches to Inoeese Colorecial Carwer Saaening

Subtotal 93,800

Hospital Preparednes Program (HPP) Ebola Preparedness and
Responsa Activities

Maternal. Infant and Early Chidhood Home Visiting Grant
Maternal, ktfani and Early Chidhood Home Visiting Grant

Subtotal 93,870

Rural HeaBh Care Services Oubeach. Rural Heath Network Oevelopmeta

And Smai Health Care Provider Ouatty ImpfovemerH

Rural Health Care Services Oubeach, Rural Heafih Network Development

Artd Smai Health Care Provider Quality knprovament

Subtotal 93.912

93.060

93.110

93,110

93,127

93.135

93.136

93.153

93.153

93.153

93.241

93,243

93,243

93.243

93.243

93.276

93.276

93,632

93,652

93.652

93,761

93.788

93.788

93.788

93.788

93.800

93.800

93.817

93.870

93.870

93.912

93.912

GENF00001568485

8T73MC323930101

0253-6548-4609

7 H33MC323950100

R1140

034204)8225

SH12HA31112-03-00

H12HA31112

H1XHA37020-01

0342008324

1H79SM082302-01

1H79TI026146-01

7H79SM0635S4-01

0342007993

5H79SP020382

2H79SP020382-06

19-029

AWD00009303

NotAvaiable

90FPSG0019

2019-e0AS-05-ACCESO4

05-9S-92-9205107040S007

05-95-47-470010S2010000

0342008055

5 NU58DP00608e

5NU580P0060660500

0342OO7S5S

0342OO817S

0342007623

NotAvaiable

D06RH31057

Pass-Through

Direct

Pass-Through

Diract

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Direct

Pess-Through

Dbeei

Pass-Through

Diract

Pass-Through

Direct

Direct

Pass-Through

Dbeci

Pass-Through

Obaa

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Direct

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

Pass-Through

PassThrough

PassThrough

Direa

Boston Chidren's Hospital

leahn Scftool ol Medidrte at Mount Sinai

Tmstees ol Dartmouth Coiege

Vermont Agency of Human Servicas

Vermont Department ol HeaRh

Vermont Department of HeaRh

Vermont Department of HeaRh

University of New Hampshire

NH Dept of Health and Human Services

NH Dept of HeaRh artd Human Services

NH Dept ol HeaRh and Human Services

NH Dept of HeaRh and Human Services

Vermont Agettcy of Human Servicas

NH Dept of HeaRh artd Human Services

Vermont Oeparbnent of HeMth

Vermont Oeperbnent ol HeaRh

Verment Oepatbnerb ol HeaRh

County ol Chathre

17.530 -

72.142 43,292

22,007

94,149 43.292

132.270

207.617
-

3.971 .

398.842 •

18.419 -

3,967 -

421.228

1,141

391.954 23.981

740
-

109.816
•

113.895 .

816.405 23.981

24,427

71,578

96.005

183

51.281 -

84.051 -

135.332

188.045

1.474.457

197.661 -

606.635 -

326.779 .

2.605,732

697.244

524.929 38.855

1,222.173 38.855

14.232
.

191.501 .

69.478 .

260.979

4.753 -

142.657 .

147,410

Tire accDmpanying notes to the Schedule of Expienditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Expenditures of Federel Awerds

Year ended June 30. 2020

Federal Program

Grants to Provide Outpetient Eerty Intatvention Services vMt Respect to

HIV Dtseese

Grants to Provide Outpatieni Early tniervenbon Senrices with Respect to
HIV Disease

Subtotal 93.91B

Block Grants lor Commtxtity Mental Heath Services

Block Grants tor Commuruty Mental HeaSt Services

Subtotal 93.958

Block Grants lor Preverwion atxl Treatnera of Substance A>Me

Block Grants lor Prevention end Treetment oi SubstarKe Abuse

Block &ants lor Prevention end Treetment of Substance Abuse

Subtotal 93.959

PPHF Geriatric Education Centers

prpHF Geriatric Education Canters

Subtotal 93.909

Total Oepartnent of HaaBh and Human Services

Corporation for Natiortal attd Community Service
AmeriCorps

Total Corporation lor Nalianal and Community Service
Various

Greater Mortedrtodt Regional PubSc HaaKh Network Services
Total Various

Total Federal Other Spoctsored Programs

Total Expertditures of Federal Awerds

CFOA Award numberfpass-ttwough
identification number Funding source

Pass-lhreugh
eraity

Total

expenditures

Amount passed
to sutsrecipients

93.918 1 H7BHA31654^1-00 Direct 330.296

93.918 H7CHA37245^>1 Direct 11.920

340,216 -

93.958 9224120 Pass-Through NH Oepi of Health and Human Services 301.407 106.293

93.958 RFP.2017.08H-05-nRSTE Pass-Through NH Dept of Health arxl Htnan Services 1.B98 -

303.305 106.293

93.959 03420^11 PasvThiough Vermont Depertnent ol HeaBt 36.049

93.959 05-95-49-491510-2990 Pass-Through Foundation lor HeaShy Comminties 9.990
-

93.959 T1010035-15 Pass-Through Fourvlaiion for HeaRhy Commureties 2.300 ,

40.339

93.969 2U10HP32S19-02-00 Direct 606.499

93.969 U10HP32S19 Direct 47.441

733.940

7.596,202 212.421

94.006 17ACHNH0010IX)1 Pass-Through Volunteer NH 31.079

31.079

Multiple Pass-Through County d Cheshire 227.640

227.640 •

14.790,602 224.861

$  20.339.104 8  3.924.430

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of the Schedule.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2020

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") presents the
activity of federal award programs administered by Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
(the "Health System") as defined in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and is
presented on an accrual basis. The purpose of this Schedule is to present a summary of those
activities of the Health System for the year ended June 30, 2020 which have been financed by the
United States government ("federal awards"). For purposes of this Schedule, federal awards

include ail federal assistance entered into directly between the Health System and the federal
government and subawards from nonfederal organizations made under federally sponsored
agreements. The information in this Schedule in presented in accordance with the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Pass-through entity identification numbers and CFDA numbers have been
provided where available.

Visiting Nurse and Hospice of NH and VT ("VNH") received a Community Facilities Loan, CFDA
#10.766, of which the proceeds were expended in 2018. The VNH had an outstanding balance of
$2,696,512 as of June 30, 2020. As this loan was related to a project that was completed in the
prior audit period and the terms and conditions do not impose continued compliance requirements
other than to repay the loan, we have properly excluded the outstanding loan balance from the
Schedule.

2. Indirect Expenses

Indirect costs are charged to certain federal grants and contracts at a federally approved
predetermined indirect rate, negotiated with the Division of Cost Allocation and therefore we do not
use the de minimus 10% rate. The predetermined rate provided for the year ended June 30, 2020
was 29.3%. Indirect costs are included in the reported federal expenditures.

3. Related Party Transactions

The Health System has an affiliation agreement with Dartmouth College dated June 4,1996 in
which the Health System and the Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth College affirm their
mutual commitment to providing high quality medical care, medical education and medical research
at both organizations. Pursuant to this affiliation agreement, certain clinical faculty of the Health
System participate in federal research programs administered by Dartmouth College. During the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, Health System expenditures, which Dartmouth College
reimbursed, totaled $32,413. Based on the nature of these transactions, the Health System and
Dartmouth College do not view these arrangements to be subrecipient transactions but rather view

- them as Dartmouth College activity. Accordingly, this activity does not appear in the Health
System's schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2020

4. Greater Monadnock Regional Public Health Network Services

Cheshire Medical Center received a pass-through award from the County of Cheshire, who were
themselves a pass-through entity for their award from the New Hampshire Department of Health
and Human Services. Per the award contract between County of Cheshire and NH DHHS, the
award was funded from the following Federal Agencies, programs, and CFDA's, with no dollar
amount provided:

AGENCY

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Centers for Disease

Control & Prevention

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health &
Human Services

US Department of Health
& Human Services

US Department of Health
& Human Services

PROGRAM CFDA

Preventative Health Services 93.991

Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program 93.074

Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program 93.069

Immunization Cooperative Agreements 93.268

Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment
Block Grant 93.959

Substance Abuse and Mental Health
Services Projects of Regional and National
Significance 93.243
Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program 93.074

Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Program 93.889

Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention &
Surveillance Program 93.197

Environmental Public Health and Emergency
Response 93.070
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with

Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
Issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries {the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated
balance sheet as of June 30, 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in
net assets and of cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements,
and have issued our report thereon dated November 17, 2020, which included an emphasis of a matter
paragraph related to the Health System changing the manner in which it presents the net periodic
pension costs in 2020 as discussed in note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Health System's
internal control over financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing the audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's
internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A matenal weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internai control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Health System's financial statements are
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report Is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17, 2020
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance with Requirements
That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over

Compliance In Accordance with the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries' (the "Health System") compliance with
the types of compliance requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a
direct and material effect on each of Health System's major federal programs for the year ended June 30,
2020, the Health System's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and the terms and conditions
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Health System's major federal
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Health
System's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Health System's
compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each
of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Health System are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and
performing our audit of compliance, we considered Health System's internal control over compliance with
the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of Health System "s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
September 30, 2021
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Part III

Findings and Questioned Costs
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2020

I. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued

Internal control over financial reporting

Material weakness (es) identified?
Significant deficiency (ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness (es)?
Noncompliance material to financial statements

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs

Material weakness (es) identified?
Significant deficiency (ies) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness (es)?

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major
programs

Audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?

identification of major programs

CFOA Number

93.778

17.258

93.969

Unmodified opinion

No

None reported
No

No

None reported

Unmodified opinion

No

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Medical Assistance Program

Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act
Adult Program

Prevention and Public Health Fund

Geriatric Education Centers

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

$850,176

Yes

Financial Statement Findings

None Noted

Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None Noted
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Subsidiaries
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings and Status
Year Ended June 30, 2020

There are no findings from prior years that require an update in this report.
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DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK (D-H) | DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK HEALTH (D-HH)
BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFHCERS

Effective: Tanuarv 1.2021

Geraldine "Folly" Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Adjunct Professor, Uitiversity of Verntout

Jonathan T. Huntington, MD, PhD, MPH
MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trustee
Acting Chief Medical Officer, DHMC

Mark W. Begor, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Executive Officer, Equifnx

Laura K. Landy, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
President and CEO of the Fannie E. Rippel Foundation

Jocelyn D. Chertoff, MD, MS, FACR
MHMH/DHC (Cliniccil Chair/Center Director)
Trustee

Chair, Dept. of Radiology/

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains Insurance
Group, Ltd

Duane A. Compton, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-OJficio: Deau, Ceisel School ofMedicine at Dartmouth

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHCTrustee
President & COO, }BG SMITH

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

Paul P. Darios, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Dean Emeritus; Laurence F. Whittemore Professor of
Business Administration, Tuck School of Business at
Dartmouth

Richard J. Powell, MD
D-HH Trustee

Section Chief, Vascular Surgeiy; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Carl "Trey" Dobson, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
ChiefMedical Officer, Southvestem Vermont Medical
Center

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI

MHMH/DHCTrustee
President & CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Professor Emeritus, Harvard Medical School and
ChiefMedical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies, LLC

Kurt K. Rhynhart, MD, FACS
MHMH/DHC (D-H Lebanon Physician Trustee
Representative) Trustee
DHMC Trauma Medical Director and Divisional Chief of
Trauma and Acute Care Surgen/

Gary L. Freed, Jr., MD, PharmD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Plastic Surgeon, DHMCatid Assistant Professor of
Surgenj for Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Edward Howe Stansfield, HI, MA

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Chair
Senior VP, Resident Director for the Hanover, NH Bank of
America/Merrill Lynch Office

Thomas P. Glynn, PhD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Executive Officer, Massachusetts Port Authorit}/

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Chiefexecutive officer aneritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Robert S.D. Higgins, MD, MSHA
MHMH/DHCTrustee
Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiolog}/, Yale School of Medicine

Marc B. Wolpow, JD, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Co-Chief Executive Officer of Audax Group

Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Surgeon-in-Chief, The John Hopkins Hospital
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CURRICULUM VITAE

Date Prepared: September 27, 2021

NAME: Sarah Pratt, Ph.D.

ADDRESS: OFFICE

I. EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION DEGREE

1994-2000 Fordham University Ph.D. (Clinical Psychology)

1985-1989 Connecticut College BA

II. POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

DATES INSTITUTION SPECIALTY

2000-2001 Dartmouth College Postdoctoral Fellowship (Clinical
Psychology)

1999-2000 Dartmouth College Clinical Psychology/Neuropsychology
Internship

III. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

DATE INSTITUTION TITLE CREDITS

2014 Geisel School of Medicine The Science and Practice of Leading N/A

Yourself

2013-2014 The Dartmouth Institute Advanced Statistics for Healthcare Research N/A

2012-2013 Dartmouth Psychiatric Research Statistics Seminar N/A

Center

2011-2012 Dartmouth Psychiatric Research Statistics Seminar N/A

Center

2010 Wellcoaches Corporation Introduction to Core Coaching Competencies N/A

in Health, Fitness, and Wellness

2009 The Dartmouth Institute Studying Patients' Decision Making ECS 120 N/A

IV. ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS

DATE INSTITUTION

2019-present Geiscl School of Medicine at
Dartmouth

2019-present The Dartmouth Institute

2009-2019 The Dartmouth Institute

2005-2019 Geiscl School of Medicine at
Dartmouth

2004-2005 Geisel School of Medicine at

TITLE

Associate Professor

Associate Professor

Assistant Professor

Assistant Professor in Psychiatry

Research Assistant Professor in Psychiatry



DocuSign Envelope ID: 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAFOB

Dartmouth

Sarah Pratt, Ph.D.
Page 2

V. INSTITUTIONAL LEADERSHIP ROLES

date institution

2002-2004 Dartmouth Psychiatric Research
Center

2010-2012 Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2011-2012 Geisel School of Medicine at
Dartmouth

2011-2018 Department of Psychiatry,
Geisel School of Medicine at

Dartmouth

2012-2018 Geisel School of Medicine at
Dartmouth

2013-2018 Geisel School of Medicine at
Dartmouth

2018-present Department of Psychiatry,
Dartmouth-Hitchcock

TITLE

Member, Executive Committee

Member, PCIR Committee for CTSA
("SYNERGY")
Member, Curriculum Planning Committee
Faculty Leadership Program
Member, Research Committee

Coordinator and Member, Leadership Tutorial
Sponsored by the Dean of the Geisel School of
Medicine

Member, SYNERGY Clinical Research Unit
Steering Committee
Co-Chair, Researeh Committee

VI. LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION

N/A

VIE HOSPITAL APPOINTMENTS:

DATE INSTITUTION

2000-2001

1999-2000

1996-1997

1995-1996

New Hampshire Hospital
New Hampshire Hospital
White Plains Hospital
Rockland Children's Psychiatric
Center

POSITION/TITLE

Postdoctoral Fellow

Psychology/Neuropsychology Intern
Psychology Extern
Psychology Extern

VIH. OTHER PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS (NON-DARTMOUTH):

DATE INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE

2000 Department of Veteran's Affairs, Clinical Consultant

Manchester, NH

1998-1999 Fordham University Senior Teaching Fellow

1997-1999 New York Hospital Cornell Research Coordinator

Medical Center

1997-1998 Riverdale Community Residence Counselor

1996-1998 Fordham University Teaching Fellow

1995-1996 Fordham University Teaching Assistant

1994-1995 Fordham University Graduate Assistant
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Sarah Pratt, Ph.D.
Page 3

1991-1994

1989-1991

Sugarman, Rogers, Barshak, & Paralegal
Cohen

Hill & Barlow Paralegal

IX, TEACHING ACTIVITIES

A. UNDERGRADUATE (COLLEGE) EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE

1996-1997

1996-1997

1996-1997

1997-1998

1997-1998

1997-1998

Fordham

Fordham

Fordham

Fordham

Fordham

Fordham

University
University
University

University
University
University

B. GRADUATE EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION

Introduction to Clinical Psychology
Introduction to Statistics

Abnormal Psychology

Introduction to Clinical Psychology
Child Clinical Psychology
Substance Abuse

COURSE TITLE

ROLE

Instructor

Instructor

Instructor

Instructor

Instructor

Instructor

ROLE

HOURS

3 credit hours

3 credit hours

3 credit hours

3 credit hours

3 credit hours

3 credit hours

HOURS

HOURS

7-week course

for PGY-3

1995-1996 Fordham University Personality Assessment (MMPI) Teaching Asst 4 credit hours
1995-1996 Fordham University Personality Assessment (Rorschach) Teaching Asst 4 credit hours

C. UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

N/A

D. GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE

2020 Dartmouth-Hitchcock Research Methods Instructor

E. OTHER CLINICAL EDUCATION

N/A

X. ADVISING/MENTORING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

DATES STUDENT'S NAME PROGRAM

2008-10 Meghan Driscoli Massachusetts School of Professional Psychology PhO

2016-present Cynthia Bianco Riviere University Psychology Master's Program

XL RESEARCH TEACHING/MENTORING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

DATES STUDENT'S NAME PROGRAM
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2021 Arya Kadakia

2020 Alexis Caldwell

2016 Celeste Beaulieu

2015 Mackenzie Wild

2015 Haley Heinrich

2014 Hannah Mason

2014 Lucas Daniels

2013 Zachary Wormell

2013 Ian Hancock

2011 Vivian Fitzgerald

2010 April Theroux

2009 Anoosh Nahikian

2008 Amanda Hapenny

2008 Melissa Stuart

2007 Joanna Kierska

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

DATES STUDENT'S NAME

2021-22 Jordan French

2021-22 Jacquelyn Pack

2020-21 Max Salazar

2020-21 Sarah Schultze

2019-20 Misty Brisiel

2018-19 Ashley Williams

2017-18 Karen Gowell

2016-17 Megan Greenberg

2016-17 Cameron Holmes

2016 Christine McGovem

2015-16 Jennifer Carr

2014-16 Gail DeMasi

2014-15 Jennifer Daler

2011-12 Bryan Wilkinson

2011-12 Erica Placencia

2011-12 Marissa Romanovich

2010-2011 Melissa Gregg

C. MEDICAL STUDENTS

DATES STUDENT^S NAME

Sarah Pratt, Ph.D.
Page 4

Dartmouth College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

Wheaton College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

University of New Hampshire Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

Riviere University Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

Endicott College Psychology Department

St. Anselm College Psychology Department

PROGRAM

William James College Clinical Psychology PhD

William James College Clinical Psychology PhD

William James College Clinical Psychology PhD

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work
University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work
University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work
University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

Southern New Hampshire University Master's in
Community Mental Health

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

University of New Hampshire Master's in Social Work

PROGRAM
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20015-16 Rachel Kandath Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

2005 Laura Wheeler Start MH at Dartmouth

D. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS/RESEARCH ASSOCIATES

dates STUDENT'S NAME SPECIALTY

2008-present Rosemarie Wolfe, MSData Management and Statistics
2011-2014

2010-13

2007-09

2006-08

Laura Barre, MD

Daniel Jimenez, PhD

Erica O'Neal, MD

Alice Andrews, PhD

E. FACULTY

DATES MENTEE'S NAME

2019-2020 Erin Miers, PhD

2014-present Laura Barre, MD

2009-2014 Kelly Aschbrenner, PhD

T-32 Post-Doctoral Fellow in Geriatric Psychiatry

T-32 Post-Doctoral Fellow in Geriatric Psychiatry

T-32 Post-Doctoral Fellow in Geriatric Psychiatry

T-32 Post-Doctoral Fellow In Geriatric Psychiatry

SPECIALTY

Psychiatry

Nutritional Sciences

Psychiatry

XII. COMMUNITY SERVICE, EDUCATION, AND ENGAGEMENT

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE/ACTIVITY TITLE ROLE

2020 The Center for Health Training in Integrated Illness Trainer
Care Services Management and Recovery

(Standard & Train the Trainer)

2020

2020

2020

2019

2019

2019

2019

2018

Fordham University Training in SWITCH-IT

Various Community Training in In SHAPE
Mental Health Centers

Centerstone Tennessee, Training in COVlD-19
Seven Counties Services

Centerstone Kentucky Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Various Community Training in In SHAPE
Mental Health Centers

Centerstone Tennessee Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Trainer

Trainer

Brattleboro Retreat

Mental Health

Training in Tele-Friend

Training in HOPES-I

Trainer

Trainer

HOURS/YEAR

4-Day Training

2-Day Training

2-Day Training

Trainer 1-Day Training

Trainer 2-Day Training

Trainer 2-Day Training

Trainer 2-Day Training

1-Day Training

2-Day Training
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2018

2018

2017

2017

2017

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

2015

2014

2014

2013

Association of New

York City

Riverbend Mental

Health Center

Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Trainer 1-Day Training

Citizens Advocates Training in In SHAPE

Porter-Starke Services Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Gandara Mental Health Training in In SHAPE
Center

Trainer

Trainer

Mental Health

Association of New

York City

NHS Human Services

Network 180

Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Training in In SHAPE

Training in Heinrichs Quality of
Life

Massachusetts Mental Training in In SHAPE

Mental Health

Association ofNew

York City

Mental Health

Association of New

York City

Glencliff Home for

the Elderly

Bosch Healthcare

Telehealth Leadership
Series

North Carolina

Psychiatric Research
Center

Minnesota Center for

Mental Health

Lakes Region Mental
Health/Mental

Retardation Center

Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Reeovery

Training in HOPES

HOPES

Using Telehealth to Improve the
Care and Outcomes of People
Living with Mental Illness and
Chronic Medical Conditions

Integrated Illness Management
and Recovery

Integrated Illness Management
and Recovery

Training in In SHAPE

Trainer

Trainer

Trainer

Trainer

1-day Training

2-Day Training

Trainer 1-Day Training

Trainer 2-Day Training

1-Day Training

1-Day Training

1-Day Training

2-Day Training

Trainer 2-Day Training

Trainer

Presenter

2-Day Training

Webinar

Trainer 2-Day Training

Trainer

Trainer

2-Day Training

1-Day Training
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2013

2013

2013

2013

2013

2012

2012

2012

2012

2011

2010

2010

2010

Bronx-Lebanon

Hospital

Vinfen Corp & MA
Department of Mental
Health

Integrated Illness Management
and Recovery

Innovations in Health and

Wellness for Individuals with

Psychiatric Disabilities

Southwest Counseling Training in In SHAPE
Solutions

Family Services Inc.

Weight Watchers

Open Minds

Vinfen Corp.

Austin Travis County

Integral Care

Vinfen Corp & MA
Department of Mental
Health

Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Managing and Responding to
Challenging Behaviors

Telehealth at a Community
Mental Center

Training in Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

Training in In SHAPE

Innovative Approaches to
Health Behavior Change in
Psychiatric Disabilities

Mercy Behavioral Health Training in In SHAPE

Balancing Work and LifeDartmouth College
Summer Research

Institute

NH Mental Health &

Substance Abuse

Coalition

Lapeer County,
Community Mental
Health Services Board

Smoking Cessation and
Relapse Prevention for People
with Schizophrenia

Training in In SHAPE

Trainer

Presenter

Trainer

Trainer

Lecturer

Lecturer

Trainer

Trainer

Presenter

Trainer

Lecturer

Presenter

Trainer

2010 Center for Aging Developing a Research Career Lecturer
Research at Dartmouth in Mental Health Research:

Example of a Path

2010 Community Rehab
ilitation Center

2009 Medispin Med-Ed

2009 St. Anselm College

Basics of Skills Training and Trainer
HOPES

Research Interviewers/Data Lecturer

Collectors: Hiring, Training,
and On-going Supervision

Research on Interventions for Presenter

2-Day Training

Workshop

1-Day Training

1-Day Training

Webinar

Webinar

4-Day Training

2-Day Training

Workshop

1-Day Training

Lecture

Presentation

2-Day Training

Lecture

3-Day Training

Webinar

Presentation
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2008 Medispin Mcd-Ed

2005 Focus on Forensics

Annual Conference

a Lecture Health Disparity
Population: Psychosocial
Programs for People with SM!

Developing Your Research Presenter
Materials: Strategies for
Developing Effective
Intervention Manuals

Webinar

Skills Training Using
Cognitive Behavioral
Techniques

Trainer 2-Day Workshop

XIII. RESEARCH FUNDING

A. CURRENT SUPPORT

DATES PROJECT TITLE &

AWARD NUMBER

2020-2021 COVID-Related Enhancement

2019-2024 Comparative Effectiveness of
Cognitive Enhancement Therapy vs.
Social Skills Training in SMI

2019-2024 Integrated Physical and Mental
Health Self-Management
Compared to Chronic Disease
Self-Management

2018-2023 SM80245

ProHealth NH

ROLE %EFFORT SPONSOR ANNUAL

DIRECT COSTS

PI 5%

Co-I 14%

PCORI

PCORI

$481,879

$1,250,000

PI 50% PCORI $1,386,128

Site PI 30% SAMHSA $1,999,998

B. PAST SUPPORT

DATES PROJECT ROLE %EFFORT SPONSOR ANNUAL

DIRECT COSTS

2016-2020 RO1D A041416 PI 0%

The Appeal and Impact of E-cigarettes
in Smokers with Serious Mental Illness

2015-2020 R0IMH107625 PI 9%

Automated Telehealth to Improve
Psychiatric Symptom Self-Management
and Community Tenure

NIDA

NIMH

$499,905

$575,723

2014-2019 . R0IMH102325 (Bartels, PI) Co-I 15% NIMH $494,019
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RCT of a Learning Collaborative to
Implement Health Promotion in
Mental Health

2014-2019 U48DP005018 (Bartels, PI) Co-PI, Core
CDC Health Promotion and Disease Project
Prevention Research Center

2014-2019 R01MH104555 (Bartels, PI) Co-I 15%
Self-Management Training and
Automated Telehealth to Improve
SMI Health Outcomes

2016-2017 SYNERGY PI 2%
Adaptation of a Fitness Promotion
Program for People with IDD

2014-2016 Smoking Cessation Care Co-I 5%
Management Program

15%

NIMH

$576,552

$499,228

SYNERGY $50,000

Mass $29,043
Attorney

General's Office

2011-2016

2012-2015

2009-2015

2009-2014

1B1CMS330880-01 -00 Co-PI 5%

New Hampshire Medicaid Wellness
Incentive Program

1C1CMS330983-01-00 Co-I

Community Based Health Homes
for Individuals with Serious Mental Illness

15%

2010-2012

2008-2010

R01MH089811 Co-I 25%

Statewide Intervention to Reduce

Early Mortality in Persons with Mental Illness

1U48DPOO1935-01 Co-I 10%

Adapting a Health Promotion
Intervention for High-Risk Adults:
Pilot Project

Evaluation of the Health Buddy PI 5%
Technology in People with Serious
Mental Illness

Evaluation of the Health Buddy Co-I 5%
Technology in a Community Mental
Health Center

CMS

CMMI

NIMH

CDC

Bosch

Healthcare

$1,170,370

$3,760,000

$3,447,146

$100,000

$300,000

Endowment $114,700

for Health

2008-2013 K23MH080021 PI 100% NIMH $861,106



DocuSign Envelope 10; 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EAB34DAFOB

Sarah Pratt, Ph.D.
Page 10

2007-2012

2007-2012

2005-2009

2006-2009

2004-2007

2004-2006

2003-2005

2003-2005

Individually Based Psychosocial
Rehabilitation for Older Adults with SMI

R01DA021245

Smoking Cessation and Relapse
Prevention in Patients with Schizophrenia

Site PI 10%

ROl MH078052

Health Promotion and Fitness for

Younger and Older Adults with SMI

Co-I 50%

R34 MH074786 Co-I

Integrated Illness Management and
Recovery of SMI

ROl DD000140 Co-I

Promoting Health & Functioning in
Persons with SMI

Loan Repayment Grant PI

Evaluation of a Pilot Health Co-I

Promotion Intervention for Persons

with Severe Mental Illness

Development and Evaluation of a PI
Manualized Medication Adherence

Module for Older Adults with Severe

Mental Illness

25%

50%

10%

10%

2001-2007

1998-1999

An Investigation of Medication
Adherence and Use of Memory
Strategies in Older Adults With
Schizophrenia

R01MH62324

Rehabilitation and Healthcare for

Older Adults with SMI

Phase 3 Investigation of
Aripiprazole

PI 10%

Project 80%
Director

Coordinator

1997-1999 Clozapine and Skills Training for
Schizophrenia: Longitudinal

• Assessment of Symptoms and
Social Skills

NIDA

NIMH

SAMHSA/

NIMH

CDC

NIMH

Endowment

for Health

Janssen

NIMH

$3,149,167

$3,648,638

$450,000

$565,611

$31,805

$149,569

$63,896

NARSAD $59,345

$3,674,593

Otsuka America

Pharmaceutical

Research Assistant NIMH
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ROLE %EFFORT SPONSOR ANNUAL

DIRECT COSTS

N/A

XIV. PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

2020 SWITCH IT (Coaching support for switching from combustible to c-cigarcttes)
2016 TeleFriend Tobacco module (Telehealth program of training on smoking cessation)
2015-2016 Telcfriend (Telehealth program of illness self-management)
2014 Integrated Illness Management and Recovery ("l-IMR") Curriculum and Manual
2004-2012 In SHAPE Program and Manual (Fitness promotion for people with SMI)
2002-2007 Helping Older People Experience Success ("HOPES") Curriculum and Manual

XV. ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES

N/A

XVI. MAJOR COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS

National/International

DATES COMMITTEE ROLE

2016-present Mental Health Services Research Ad-.hoc Member
Conference

2015-present Loan Repayment Program Review Ad-hoc Member
Committee

2012-present Pre-Doctoral/Post-Doctoral Awards Ad-hoc Member
Committee

2011

2010

Regional

DATES

2002-13

2003-06

Health Literacy Review Committee Ad-hoc Member

The Health Research Board

COMMITTEE

Ad hoc Member

ROLE

Mental Health and Aging Consumer Member
Advisory Council

Committee for the Protection of

Human Subjects
Member

INSITUTION

National Institutes for Health

Center for Scientific Review

National Institutes of Health

Center for Scientific Review

National Institutes of Health

Center for Scientific Review

National Institutes of Health

Dublin, Ireland

INSITUTION

New Hampshire Bureau of
Behavioral Health

New Hampshire Department
of Health and Human

Services
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Institutional

DATES COMMITTEE

2013-2018 Synergy Clinical Research Unit
Steering Committee

2009-present Research Review Committee

ROLE

Member

Member

2010-2012 Participants and Clinical Interactions Member
Resources Committee

INSITUTION

Geisel School of Medicine

Department of Psychiatry,
Geisel School of Medicine

Geisel School of Medicine

2003-2006 Executive Committee Member Dartmouth Psychiatric
Research Center

XVII. MEMBERSHIPS, OFFICE AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS IN PROFESSIONAL
SOCIETIES:

DATES SOCIETY

2015-present Society for Behavioral Medicine
2015-present Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco
2003-2016 American Association of Geriatric Psychiatry
1994-2012 American Psychological Association

ROLE

Member

Member

Affiliate Member

Member

XVIII. EDITORIAL BOARDS

N/A

XIX. JOURNAL REFEREE ACTIVITY

DATES

2016-present
2015-prcsent

2015-prcsent
2015-present
2015-present
2014-present
20i4-present
20r4-present
2013-present
2012-present
201)

2011-present
2010-prescnt

JOURNAL NAME ANNUAL FREOUENCY OF REVIEW

American Journal on Addictions

Administration and Policy in Mental
Health and Mental Health Services Research

Cognitive Behaviour Therapist
Community Development Journal
Journal of Dual Diagnosis
Annals of Behavioral Medicine

Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal
Psychiatric Services
International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology
Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment

Schizophrenia Bulletin
Bipolar Disorders
European Psychiatry

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-4

0-4

0-3

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-2
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2007-present
2006-present
2003-present
2003-present
2002-present
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Community Mental Health Journal
Archives of General Psychiatry
Psychiatry Research
Schizophrenia Research
International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry
Journal of Mental Health

American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry
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0-4

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-2

0-3

0-2

XX. AWARDS AND HONORS:

DATE AWARD

2002 Summer Research Institute in Geriatric Psychiatry
2000 Institute for Intervention Research on Severe Mental Illness

1994-1999 Presidential Scholarship (Full Tuition)
1989 Member, Phi Beta Kappa
1989 Member, National Collegiate Honorary in Political Science (Pi Sigma Alpha)
1989 Winthrop Scholar
1989 Magna Cum Laude with Distinction in Political Science
1985-1989 Dow Jones Scholar

XXI. INVITED PRESENTATIONS

International

DATE

2019

2018

2018

2017

2013

2010

TOPIC/TITLE

♦Innovative Strategies to Address
Nicotine Addiction in Smokers with
Serious Mental Illness

ORGANIZATION LOCATION

Global Forum on Nicotine Warsaw, Poland

♦^Whole Health for People with Serious Eyra Fysio
Mental Illness

♦The Future of Health and Well-Being
For People Challenged by Mental Illness

#Poster Presentation: What's E-cig Got
To Do With It? Electronic Cigarette
Use in Smokers with Serious Mental
Illness

♦Symposium: Telehealth for People
with Serious Mental Illness

#Successfully Improving Psyehosocial
Functioning in Older People with
Serious Mental Illness

IIMHL Leadership
Exchange

Gothenburg, Sweden

Stockholm, Sweden

International Society for Florence, Italy
Research on Nicotine and
Tobacco

The King's Fund Annual London, England
Conference

World Congress of Boston, MA
Behavioral and Cognitive
Therapies
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National

DATE

2019

2019

2018

2017

2017

2016

2016

2015

2015

2014

TOPIC/TITLE

♦'^Preliminary Outcomes of a Random
ized Controlled Trial of E-Cigarettes
in Serious Mental Illness

♦Strategies to Integrate Physical and
Mental Health Care for People with
Serious Mental Illness

#Poster Presentation: Relationship
Between Cognition and Nicotine
Dependence in Smokers with Mental
Illness

♦'^Symposium: An Automated
Telehcalth Program to Improve
Psychiatric Symptoms and Improve
Community Tenure in People with SMI

ORGANIZATION

10'^ Annual Thematic
Meeting on Addictions

Santa Cruz County
(Grand Rounds)

LOCATION

Clcarwater, FL

Santa Cruz, CA

Society for Neuroscience San Diego, CA
Annual Meeting

Substance Abuse and
Mental Health Services
Administration, PBHCl
Program National Meeting

Austin, TX

Substance Abuse and
Mental Health Services

♦'^Symposium: Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery: Training
Consumers in Health Self-Management Administration, PBHCI

Program National Meeting

Austin, TX

♦'^Symposium: Fitness Promotion for
People with Serious Mental Illness: NH
MIPCD "Healthy Choices, Healthy
Changes"

♦^Symposium: Comparing Older and
Younger Adults with Serious Mental
Illness Engaged in Weight Management
and Smoking Cessation

#Paper Presentation: E-cigarette
Substitution for Smokers with
Schizophrenia or Bipolar Disorder
Who Previously Failed to Quit

♦'^Symposium: Exercise Promotion in
Community Mental Health Settings:
Translating Findings from Clinical Trials

♦'^Symposium: Community Picks from
the Orchard of Evidence-based Health

Association for Behavioral New York, NY
and Cognitive Therapies

Gerontological Society of New Orleans, LA
America

Society for Research on
Nicotine and Tobacco

Society for Behavioral
Medicine

Philadelphia, PA

San Antonio, TX

National Academy for Atlanta, GE
State Health Policy Annual
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Interventions

2013 #'^Workshop: Integrated Illness
Management and Recovery

2011 *Symposium: Telehealth at a
Community Mental Health Center:
Evaluation of Feasibility and
Acceptability

2010 #'^Symposium: Informing and Testing
Interventions that Promote Health

Behavioral Change in People with
Severe Mental Illness

2009 *^Keynote Address: Growing Old
Gracefully: Successful Aging in the
2P' Century

2008 #Symposium: Promoting Health and
Fitness in People with Serious Mental
Illness: Evaluations of the In SHAPE

Program

2007 #Symposium: Effect of Psychosocial
Rehabilitation Intervention on the

Functioning of Older Persons with
SMI: Helping Older People Experience
Success

2006 #Symposium: In SHAPE: A Pilot
Evaluation of a Health Promotion

Intervention for People with Serious
Mental Illness

2006 #Symposium: Cognitive and Symptom
Correlates of Functioning in Older
People with Serious Mental Illness

2006 #Symposium: Predictors of Functioning
And Treatment of Community Dwelling
Older People with Bipolar Disorder

2005 *Recruitment for Psychosocial
Interventions Research

State Health Policy

Massachusetts Psyehiatric Worcester, MA
Rehabilitation Association

National Association of Las Vegas, NV
Home Care & Hospice

Society for Social Work Tampa, FL
and Research

Annual Behavioral Health, Fairview Heights,
Aging & Wellness IL
Conference

American Association for Orlando, FL

Geriatric Psychiatry

American Association for New Orleans, LA

Geriatric Psychiatry

American Association for San Juan, Peurto Rico
Geriatric Psychiatry

American Association for San Juan, Puerto Rico
Geriatric Psychiatry

American Psychiatric Toronto, Canada
Association

American Association of San Diego, CA
Geriatric Psychiatry Annual
Meeting Workshop
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#Symposium: Long-term Care, Health American Psychiatric
Management, and Rehabilitation for Association
Elderly with Schizophrenia

Atlanta, GE

#Symposium: Medication Adherence in American Association for San Diego, CA
Older Adults with Mental Illness Geriatric Psychiatry

#Paper Presentation: Clinical Variables American Association for San Diego, CA
Associated with Poor Functioning in Geriatric Psychiatry
Older Adults with Severe Mental Illness

#Poster Presentation: Helping Older American Association for Honolulu, HI
People Experience Success: the HOPES Geriatric Psychiatry
Study

Regional/Local

DATE TOPIC/TITLE

2020

2019

2019

2018

2018

2018

2018

2018

♦'^The HOPES Program in Project
Success

♦^The STRIDE Program at NHH

Improvements in Self-Reported
Health in Chronic Smokers with SMI
Using E-cigs

•^Clinical Trial of E-Cigarettes for
Smokers with Severe Mental Illness

•^Integrated Illness Management and
Recovery: Using Mobile Health to
Enhance the Delivery of an Evidence-
Based Practice

ORGANIZATION

Maine Medical Center
Grand Rounds

New Hampshire Hospital

Norris Cotton Cancer
Center

10'^ Annual Koop
Tobacco Treatment
Conference

New Hampshire Hospital
Grand Rounds

LOCATION

Portland, ME

Concord, NH

Lebanon, NH

Lebanon, NH

Concord, NH

♦^TelePriend: A Telehealth Program to Vermont Association of
Monitor and Improve Self-Management Hospitals and Health
of People with Serious Mental Illness Systems

•^Clinical Trial of E-Cigarettes for
Smokers with Serious Mental Illness

•'^Evaluating E-cigarette Substitution
in Chronic Smokers with SMI: Update
on a Clinical Trial

Ninth Annual Thematic
Meeting on Addictions

Cancer Control Program

Burlington, VT

Lebanon, NH

Lebanon, NH
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2018 *^TeleFriend Pilot at the Brattleboro

Retreat

2018 *^Electronic Cigarettes: A Potential
Harm Reduction Strategy for Chronic
Smokers with SMI Who Can't Quit

2018 ♦'^Tobacco and People with SMI:
What's the Harm?

2017 ♦'^Cash to Quit: Rewards for Cessation
in a Statewide Medicaid Program for
Smokers with Mental Illness

2017 *Evaluation of the STRIDE Program
in an Inpatient Setting

2016 *^New Hampshire MIPCD "Healthy
Choices, Healthy Changes"

2016 ""Innovative Approaches to Improve
the Health and Quality of Life for
People with Serious Mental Illness

2016 *^The Telefriend Study: "Trials" and
Tribulations of an ROl to Evaluate a
Telehealth Intervention

2015 ♦'^Impact of E-Cigarettes Among
Smokers with Serious Mental Illness
Who Struggle to Quit

2014 ""^Feasibility and Acceptability of
E-Cigarettes Among Recalcitrant
Smokers With Serious Mental Illness:
A Pilot Study

2013 ""^The In SHAPE Program for People
with SMI: Moving from Professional to
Peer-Enhanced Model

2013 '"'^Using a Telehealth Device to Improve
Psychiatric illness Management: Results
of a Pilot Study Project

Vermont Program for
Quality in Health Care

Montpelier, VT

Lebanon, NHCenter for Technology
and Behavioral Health at
Dartmouth Research Seminar

Mental Health Center of Manchester, NH
Greater Manchester

Center for Addiction Boston, MA
Medicine, Mass General
Grand Rounds

New Hampshire Hospital Concord, NH
Journal Club

Center for Technology Lebanon, NH
and Behavioral Health at
Dartmouth Research Seminar

National Alliance on Lebanon, NH
on Mental Illness Regional
Meeting

Center for Technology Lebanon, NH
and Behavioral Health at
Dartmouth Research Seminar

Norris Cotton Cancer
Center Grand Rounds

Lebanon, NH

Dartmouth Psychiatric Lebanon, NH
Research Center Seminar

Boston University Center Boston, MA
for Psychiatric Rehabilita
tion Research Seminar

Dartmouth Psychiatric Lebanon, NH
Research Center Seminar
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2012

2012

2011

2011

2010

2010

2007

2005

2005

2005

2004

2003

♦^Telehealth and the Treatment of
Serious Mental Illness

New Hampshire Hospital
Grand Rounds

*^A New Frontier for Medicaid: New Hampshire Hospital
Rewarding Beneficiaries for Good Health Grand Rounds

♦'^Medicaid Incentives for the Prevention Dartmouth Psychiatric
of Chronic Diseases: The NH Wellness Research Center Seminar
Incentives.Program

♦'^Integrated Illness Management and
Recovery: Pilot Study Results and
Planning an ROl Proposal

Dartmouth Psychiatric
Research Center Seminar

♦ APreventing Early Mortality in Serious New Hampshire Hospital
Mental Illness: Integrated Rehabilitation Grand Rounds
and Health Care

♦^The Road to a Successful K Award

♦^Approaches to Integrated
Rehabilitation and Wellness Self-
Management for People with Serious
Mental Illness

Dartmouth Psychiatric
Research Center Seminar

Boston University School
of Continuing Medical
Education

♦^Preliminary Results of Medication Dartmouth Psychiatric
Adherence in Older People with Severe Research Center Seminar
Mental Illness

♦^Teaching Old Dogs New Tricks;
Psychosocial Rehabilitation for Older
People with Mental Illness

♦^Findings from the HOPES Study of
Rehabilitation and Health Care for the
Elderly with SMI and New Directions
for Future Grants

♦'^Medication Adherence in Older
People with Severe Mental Illness

♦'^Helping Older Adults Experience
Success: An Intervention for Older
Adults with Severe Mental Illness

New Hampshire Hospital
Grand Rounds

Dartmouth Psychiatric
Research Center Seminar

Concord, NH

Concord, NH

Lebanon, NH

Lebanon, NH

Concord, NH

Lebanon, NH

Boston, MA

Lebanon, NH

Concord, NH

Lebanon, NH

Dartmouth Psychiatric
Research Center Seminar

New York Presbyterian
Hospital Research Seminar

Lebanon, NH

White Plains, NY

XXII. BIBLIOGRAPHY
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XII. PERSONAL STATEMENT

During my career, I have been committed to enhancing the functioning and quality of life of people who
are challenged by serious mental illness (SMI), improving the quality of clinical care offered by
treatment providers, and establishing a team of consistent and productive staff and colleagues to conduct
research that positively impacts the field of mental health. I have done this by developing and evaluating
interventions focused on improving health, fitness, psychosocial skills, and the illness self-management
ability in the vulnerable population of people with SMI. As a full time, fully funded researcher for the
past 19 years, I have served as a PI and Co-Investigator continuously on almost 30 separate research
studies, developing expertise related to all aspects of clinical research and participating in all phases of
research. Many of the interventions I have been involved with have had a significant impact on the field,
enhancing the lives of thousands of people living with SMI, augmenting the skills and quality of care
provided by hundreds of clinicians working with this population, and training a huge work force of
researchers dedicated to the mission of creating an ever-growing base of knowledge about best practices
for people with SMI.

My work has impacted and advanced the mental health field in many ways particularly through creation
and evaluation of several manualized interventions focused on enhancing the health and functioning of
people with SMI, and development of innovative strategies to address some of the most challenging
problems facing this group. I have also made contributions in terms of the significant community
partnerships I have established and individuals I have mentored.

Creation and Evaluation ofManualized Interventions

I have been the primary author on several manualized interventions that have been used in dozens of
community mental health centers (CMHCs) with thousands of people challenged by SMI. For example,
I developed a group-based skills training intervention targeting social skills, community living skills and
physical health self-management skills, the Helping Older People Experience Success (HOPES)
program, one of only 3-4 psychosocial interventions that has ever been created for older people with
SMI. As part of my K23 Award, I also developed and evaluated the first individually tailored program
of skills training and psychosocial rehabilitation for older people with SMI. As a recognized expert in
psychosocial rehabilitation and skills training for people with serious mental illness, I am asked to give
lectures and workshops on this topic and have provided trainings in HOPES to several CMHCs. across
the United States. In collaboration with my long-time mentee, Meghan Santos, MSW, I also created a
manualized intervention. Integrated Illness Management and Recovery (I-IMR), to train people with SMI
on illness self-iiianagement and to teach them about how physical and mental health are related. I-IMR is
the only truly integrated curriculum that teaches about the relationship between physical and mental
illness and how to better manage them simultaneously; therefore, it has made a unique contribution to
the field. T recently received a $7.5 million contract from the Patient Centered Outcomes Research
Institute to evaluate the effectiveness of I-IMR in a large Pragmatic Clinical Trial. I also am approached
routinely by community mental health centers across the country with requests for training in I-IMR,
which is now offered in 11 US states.

I have been integrally involved in the development and evaluation of what has become the most widely
adopted fitness promotion program for people with SMI, "In SHAPE." I also co-wrote the In SHAPE
treatment manual and am part of the training team that has instructed 80 mental health agencies across
28 US states in implementation of this intervention. There are several other fitness promotion
interventions that have been developed for people with SMI, but no other fitness program has come
close to achieving the widespread implementation of In SHAPE. These interventions have impacted the



DocuSign Envelope ID: 21D19804-0795-4A46-92CE-31EA834DAF0B

Sarah Pratt, Ph.D.
Page 27

lives of thousands of people with SMI, improving their psychosocial skills, enhancing their illness self-
management abilities, and reducing their risk for cardiovascular disease and premature mortality by
increasing their fitness, all of which allows them to pursue meaningful recovery-oriented life goals.
Having trained and supervised dozens of clinical providers in the delivery of these interventions, I have
also positively impacted the quality of services offered at more than 100 CMHCs across the US.

Developmem ofInnovative Strategies to Address Challenging Problems

I have been involved in several innovative initiatives that have addressed some of the most challenging
problems faced by people with SMI, including tobacco addiction, psychiatric instability, engagement in
healthy lifestyle behavior change, and most recently, surviving the COViD-19 pandemic. After
spending many years conducting evaluations of smoking cessation interventions tailored for people with
SMI, including a study published in JAMA, I embarked on an innovative course of research on the use
of electronic cigarettes for harm reduction among chronic smokers with SMI who have tried but are
unable or unwilling to quit. When I began this research in 2013, electronic cigarettes were especially
controversial and therefore I faced scrutiny, criticism, and disapproval. Nevertheless, after a successful
pilot study, in 2015 I received an ROl as PI to evaluate the appeal and health impact of e-cigarettes
among people with SMI. I am currently in the final stages of developing a coaching program to help
people with mental illness to switch fully to e-cigarettes, which will be tested in a pilot study in the
Bronx, NY.

Chronic psychiatric instability leading to use of high intensity mental health services is another vexing
problem, causing major disruption in the lives of affected individuals and their families and resulting in
high cost to the public mental health system. From 2007-2011,1 served as PI on two pilot studies of an
innovative technology, remote monitoring of mental illness status, which led to funding of my first ROl
as PI in 2014. I developed the psychiatric content for the program as well as innovative telehealth
libraries addressing tobacco addiction and obesity. As a result of my work on these initiatives, I am
recognized as an expert in the use of e-cigarettes among people with SMI, and the use of automated
telehealth to address psychiatric instability in people with SMI.

From 2011 -2016,1 served as Co-PI on an innovative $ 10 million research study funded by the Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid to evaluate the impact of incentives on health behavior change in people
with SMI. This 5-year project involved engaging leadership at 10 CMHCs across the state of NH to
serve as study sites and hiring, training, and supendsing over 40 new staff. The study provided fitness-
promotion programming to almost 1400 people and tobacco education and smoking cessation
programming to over 1400 people with SMI receiving services at the participating CMHCs. This unique
project was the largest study of the use of incentives in people with SMI ever conducted, the outcomes
of which provide invaluable information about the potential value of incentives and rewards in this
population, making a significant contribution to the field of behavioral economics. This project served
as the basis for a $ 10 million grant recently awarded to the NH Bureau of Behavioral Health by
SAMHSA on which I serve as Site PI that will continue to advance the science on using incentives to
encourage health behavior change in people with serious mental illness, an important and innovative
area of study.

I recently received a COVID-related Enhancement to my PCORI-funded Pragmatic Clinical Trial to
develop a 3-session module for people with serious mental illness and underlying medical conditions
thai will provide education and behavioral coaching to prevent them from catching and spreading
COVlD-19 and other infectious viral infections! This was one of the first COVID-related projects
approved by PCORI and it could have a significant impact on people with serious mental illness and
other individuals who are especially at risk of negative outcomes of COVID-19.
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Mentoring and Establishment of Community Partners

An important part of my work is mentoring, demonstrating how to work clinically with people
challenged by.SMI, and providing individuals with the opportunity to learn about how to conduct
rigorous research. My mentees have included not only students interested in pursuing advanced degrees
in the mental health field, but also professionals with terminal degrees who have dedicated their careers
to conducting research aimed at improving the lives of people with serious mental illness. I have
supervised and mentored 40 undergraduate psychology students, master's students, and post-doctoral
trainees. I have also trained and supervised an army of research staff (more than 130 people over the
past 16 years), including research interviewers, research assistants, project coordinators, nurses, certified
fitness trainers, and other study interventionists. Every staff person serving as an interventionist on my
research studies has played a role in improving the lives of many people challenged by SMI. Combined,
this represents thousands of individuals, in NH and across the country. I am especially proud of the
dedication, loyalty, and commitment that I have fostered among the members of my research team; most
notably, my four primary staff members have worked with me for 9-16 years. I have created a research
team that is highly productive and has been extremely successful at obtaining funding and executing
research studies.

My track record of establishing and maintaining a large network of community partners, primarily
CMHCs, is also one of my greatest achievements. The type of research 1 do requires partnerships with
clinical settings that serve people with SMI, the vast majority of which have no existing research
infrastructure or culture of research. Therefore, it is a significant accomplishment that I have been able
to establish positive working relationships with over 2 dozen clinical sites in multiple states that have
participated eagerly and repeatedly in my research studies, including small agencies serving less than
1,000 clients annually and very large mental health systems serving tens of thousands of clients across
several states. Cultivating these partnerships takes attention, effort, and skill.

Goals

I look forward to making further meaningful contributions to clinical psychiatry by conducting
intervention and dissemination research; training and mentoring students, junior investigators, and staff;
and sharing findings of my work at the institutional, local, national, and international level. I hope that
the research I direct will have translational value to improve the health and quality of life for those
challenged by SMI, as well as the skills and services offered by clinical providers.
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